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Chairman and CEO Introduction

On behalf of the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management Team we are 
pleased to present shareholders and 
security holders with this Annual Report 
for the 12 months to 31 March 2017.

Powerco continued its track record of 
consistent delivery of operational and 
financial results for its stakeholders. 

Key highlights 
•  Revenue increased 2.1% from $457.2 

million to $466.7 million.

•  EBITDAF rose 0.4% from $253.3 million 
to $254.2 million.

•  We invested $201.8 million in maintaining, 
renewing and developing Powerco’s 
electricity and gas networks, an increase 
of 16.8% (2016: $172.8 million). 

•  A record number of 12,713 scheduled 
maintenance, renewal and development 
projects were completed (2016: 11,441). 

•  We connected a record 2,075 new 
residential gas customers. 

•  Powerco surveyed about 5,900 people, 
of whom 3,400 were Powerco gas and 
electricity consumers. Of those, 94% of 
electricity customers were happy with the 
level of service the company provided. 

We are committed to being a reliable 
partner, delivering New Zealand’s energy 
future by providing safe, secure and resilient 
electricity and gas supply to our customers. 

An important part of this is being in tune 
with what our customers value and how  
we can meet their diverse and changing 
needs. We have been consulting 
extensively with our customers, seeking 
feedback on our plan to invest close to 
$1.4 billion in our electricity network during 
the next five years – an increase of about 
50% compared with the previous five years.  
We expect to make a formal application 
to the Commerce Commission for a 
customised price-quality path (CPP)  
in June 2017. 

Our customers tell us we’re meeting their 
expectations and they want the standard 

of our services to be at least maintained 
at current levels. They also expect us 
to operate a safe, secure and resilient 
network. However, looking to the future, we 
are concerned that if we continue at current 
levels of investment we will not be able to 
meet customer expectations. This is because 
a large proportion of our network was built in 
the 1950s and 60s and now needs replacing. 

It is important we demonstrate that the 
money we invest on our network is prudent 
and efficient because the decisions 
we make on spending during the next 
few years will shape the capability and 
performance of our networks in the coming 
decades. Our investment plans will have an 
impact on the average prices customers 
pay for our services and this is why we 
have consulted on our plans extensively. 
Ultimately, the Commerce Commission 
will consider if our proposal is in the best 
interests of our customers when they make 
a decision on our proposal early in 2018.

Safety and looking after the environment 
remain major areas of focus for Powerco 
and we strive to ensure we continue to be 
an industry leader in these areas. During 
the year, we participated in the GRESB 
Infrastructure Survey. This is a global 
benchmarking of environmental, social  
and governance performance across 
companies in North America, Europe 
and Australasia. Powerco ranked first in 
the Energy Transmission and Distribution 
category, and eighth overall out of the 
134 companies that participated. This 
demonstrates the high standards we  
set for our operations. 

As an electricity utility, we also have 
an important role in supporting New 
Zealanders who wish to install photovoltaic 
panels or purchase electric vehicles 
(EVs). In the past year we continued to 
support the development of a corridor of 
EV charging stations within our network 
in partnership with ChargeNet NZ and 
various local councils. It is proposed that 
the number of EV chargers in our network 
area triple to 21 by FY2020 to allow for a 
network of EV charging stations throughout 
the North Island. 

We are joining this future too. Chief Executive 
Nigel Barbour has announced that by 2019 
at least 30% of Powerco’s corporate vehicle 
fleet will be electric. Another 29 New Zealand 
CEOs have taken up the challenge, so  
that across all the companies this initiative 
will represent 1,450 vehicles and will be a 
75% increase in the total number of EVs  
on New Zealand roads. 

Revenue 
Total revenue was $466.7 million, a 2.1% 
increase on 2016’s $457.2 million. The 
positive revenue performance was mainly 
driven by continued strong customer growth.

Earnings before Interest, Taxation, 
Depreciation, Amortisation and Financial 
Instruments (EBITDAF)
EBITDAF for the 12-month period ended  
31 March 2017 was $254.2 million, an 
increase of 0.4% (2016: $253.3 million). 

Underlying performance of the company
Powerco is of the opinion that both EBITDAF 
and Profit before Taxation, adjusted to remove 
the impact of unrealised gains and losses,  
are better measures of the performance of  
the company showing a 0.4% and 8.2%  
year-on-year improvement respectively.

The following table shows Profit before 
Taxation with Other Gains and Losses for 
2017 and 2016 removed. The variance of 
$6.8 million is attributable to the increase  
in EBITDAF ($0.9 million), and decreases  
in disposal of fixed assets ($4.2 million), 
finance costs ($1.3 million) and depreciation 
and amortisation ($0.4 million).

Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) 
The company made a net profit after tax 
of $58.5 million in the 12 months to 31 
March 2017 compared with $64.4 million 
for the 12 months ended 31 March 2016. 
This reduction in Net Profit after Tax is 
due to losses on unrealised valuations of 
financial instruments. The results reflect the 
company’s resilience, stability and ongoing 
focus on performance improvement.

2017 
$ million

2016 
$ million

Variance
$ million

Variance
%

Profit Before Taxation 83.5 84.6 (1.1)

Remove other losses/(gains) 6.1 (1.8) 7.9

Underlying profitability 89.6 82.8 6.8 8.2%

John Loughlin  
Chairman 

Nigel Barbour 
Chief Executive     

Trustworthy
We act with integrity. We are honest, 
consistent and ethical. We trust each  
other and our external partners and 

work to be trusted in return.

Safe
We are committed to  
keeping people safe.

Values are an important part of shaping how we act at Powerco. They define the types of behaviours and actions 
that contribute to the success of the company. The values and behaviours are discussed with employees as part 
of their review and development.

Collaborative
We work together with  

our partners, contribute our 
capabilities and provide timely 
support and consideration to  
achieve our collective goals.

Intelligent
We make informed  

decisions for the best outcome.  
We continually seek improvement 

and innovative solutions from  
our suppliers and ourselves.

Conscientious
We are proactive, hardworking, 
diligent and thoughtful. We are 
mindful of the needs of others  

and of the environment. We take 
ownership for our actions.

Accountable
We lead. We take ownership  

of our decisions and responsibility  
for our actions. We are  

proactive in identifying and  
resolving problems.

Values
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Executive Management TeamBoard of Directors

John Loughlin
MBA, BCA, FCA, FNZIM, ANZIIF (Fellow),  
AFInstD, INFINZ (Fellow)

Mr Loughlin is the Chair of the 
Powerco Board. He is a professional 
Company Director and Chairman of 
Tru-Test Corporation Ltd, EastPack 
Ltd, and Rockit Global Ltd. He is also 
a director of Augusta Capital Ltd.
In his executive career, Mr Loughlin 
was Finance Manager of Richmond 
Ltd before becoming the company’s 
Chief Executive. Before holding those 
positions, he was an institutional 
fund manager. Mr Loughlin and his 
wife Kathryn established and own 
Askerne Estate Winery. Mr Loughlin 
was appointed to the Powerco Board 
in 2013.

Paul Callow
BSc, IoDNZ

Mr Callow is a professional director 
with more than 30 years’ experience in 
financial, commercial and engineering 
roles. He spent 13 years with 
Deloitte as a partner in the Wellington 
corporate finance practice and led 
the firm’s energy sector group in New 
Zealand. He has extensive advisory 
experience in the energy sector, both 
in New Zealand and internationally.
Before joining Deloitte, Mr Callow 
was a project director at Asiapower 
Developments Ltd, responsible for 
electricity generation project origination 
and development in India, and Thailand 
and other parts of South East Asia. Mr 
Callow holds a degree in mechanical 
engineering from the University of 
Birmingham. He is a director on other 
private companies and is a chartered 
member of the Institute of Directors.  
Mr Callow was appointed to the 
Powerco Board in September 2016.

Gordon Hay
BEng (Hons), MBA

Mr Hay is a Principal in the QIC  
Global Infrastructure team and 
co-heads the team’s investment 
and asset management activities in 
the energy and utilities sector. He 
has more than 10 years’ corporate 
advisory and transaction experience. 
Before joining QIC, he was Executive 
Director of BurnVoir Corporate 
Finance, an Australian boutique 
investment bank. He was responsible 
for origination and execution of M&A 
transactions, debt financing and 
equity raising across the infrastructure, 
energy and resources sectors. Mr 
Hay’s experience spans a range of 
transactional, project and strategic 
assignments for organisations 
ranging from major corporations and 
Government entities to small-cap  
and single-asset companies. Mr Hay 
joined the Powerco Board in 2014  
as Alternate Director to Angela Karl. 
On 26 March 2015 Mr Hay became  
a Principal Director.

Angela Karl
BCom (Hons 1), LLB (Hons 1) 
Alternate Director to Gordon Hay

Ms Karl joined QIC in 2012 and is a 
Partner in the QIC Global Infrastructure 
(GI) team. She is focused on the 
power and utilities sector within QIC 
GI’s broader infrastructure portfolio. 
Before joining QIC, Ms Karl had more 
than a decade of investment banking, 
corporate advisory and transaction 
experience at JPMorgan and UBS 
Investment Bank, with her most recent 
role as Australasian Head of Power 
& Utilities Advisory at UBS. During 
her time in banking, Ms Karl advised 
on more than 100 mergers and 
acquisitions and capital raisings for 
Australasian corporates, predominately 
in the utility sector. She is a Director 
of Epic Energy SA, a Director of 
Powering Australian Renewables Fund 
and a Director of Lochard Energy. Ms 
Karl was appointed to the Powerco 
Board in 2013 as Principal Director 
then became Alternate Director to Mr 
Hay on 26 March 2015.

Tom Parry
AM, BEc, MEc, PhD

Dr Parry is Chairman of the Powering 
Australian Renewables Fund, Deputy 
Chairman of ACTEW-AGL, a director 
of Icon Water and a director of 
ASX-Compliance. Previously he was 
Chairman of the Australian Energy 
Market Operator, Chairman of Sydney 
Water Corporation, Chairman of 
First Super Trustee Corporation 
and a Director of Brisbane Airport 
Corporation. He has also held several 
important positions in regulation and 
public policy, including 12 years as 
Foundation Executive Chair of the 
Independent Pricing and Regulatory 
Tribunal of New South Wales, 
Foundation New South Wales Natural 
Resources Commissioner and Director 
of the New South Wales Clinical 
Excellence Commission. He has 
more than 35 years’ experience as an 
academic, business and public policy 
consultant in the financial sector and 
as a regulator. Dr Parry was appointed 
to the Powerco Board in 2010.

David Rees
MA 
Alternate Director to Michael Bessell

Mr Rees is Partner and Head of 
Asset Management, Infrastructure 
Europe, AMP Capital Investors. He 
has responsibility for the long-term 
performance of AMP Capital’s 
European infrastructure assets. He 
joined AMP Capital in 2012 and has 
more than 28 years’ experience of 
infrastructure businesses. Before 
joining AMP Capital, he worked for 10 
years at National Grid, the international 
network energy company, where he 
held a number of senior executive 
roles, including Director of Finance 
and Regulation of Transco, the UK 
gas transmission and distribution 
business. He serves on the boards of 
Thames Water, Angel Trains, Esvagt 
A/S and Newcastle Airport. Mr Rees 
was appointed to the Powerco Board 
as Alternate Director to Chris Wade in 
November 2013 and further appointed 
to the Powerco Board as Alternate to 
Michael Bessell in April 2015.

Nigel Barbour 
B.Com/LLB 

Chief Executive

Mr Barbour is the Chief Executive  
of Powerco. He is responsible for 
leading the business to deliver on  
all customer, financial and operational 
targets. He joined Powerco in October 
2002 and has been in executive 
management roles for the past  
14 years, including General Manager 
(Electricity). He was appointed Chief 
Executive in October 2011. He is a 
board member of the New Zealand 
Electricity Networks Association  
and the Gas Industry Company,  
and is a member of the New Zealand 
Security and Reliability Council.  
Mr Barbour has an economics and 
legal background and has previously 
held roles with Transpower and the 
Bank of New Zealand.

Brigitte Colombo 
B. Surv (Hons), BSc

Chief Information Officer

As Chief Information Officer, Mrs 
Colombo is responsible for managing 
information and digital technologies 
for Powerco. Mrs Colombo holds a 
Bachelor of Surveying, a Bachelor of 
Computer Science, and a Certificate 
in Management and Leadership. 
Before returning to New Zealand in 
2014, she enjoyed an international 
IT career working across industry 
sectors in technology infrastructure 
and applications implementation roles, 
IT operations, business development, 
strategy and change management. 
She has held executive positions in 
the UK and New Zealand, and joined 
Powerco in 2017.

Richard Fletcher 
BSc (Hons), PhD

General Manager Regulation and  
Corporate Affairs

Dr Fletcher joined Powerco in 2011. 
As General Manager Regulation and 
Corporate Affairs, he is responsible 
for managing commercial policy 
interactions with the company’s 
economic and technical regulators, 
corporate relations with official 
stakeholders, and the company’s 
internal and external communications, 
including public relations. Before 
joining Powerco, Dr Fletcher was 
Regulatory Strategy and Pricing 
Manager at Transpower NZ Ltd.
Dr Fletcher has worked in the UK, 
Middle East and South East Asia, 
as an environmental engineering 
consultant and in various commercial 
management roles in the water and 
electricity regulated network sectors. 
From 2000 to 2005, Dr Fletcher was 
Head of Economic Regulation at 
Welsh Water PLC. 

Andrew McLeod 
BEng (Mech), PGDipFA

General Manager (Electricity)

Mr McLeod leads Powerco’s Electricity 
Team as General Manager (Electricity). 
He joined Powerco in 2009 as 
General Manager (Gas). Mr McLeod 
is a chartered engineer and general 
manager with 20 years’ experience 
in the heavy engineering, water utility, 
gas and electricity utility sectors. His 
experience spans asset management, 
project delivery, construction and 
commercial negotiation. Before 
working for Powerco he was part of 
Vector’s Gas Management Team in 
the role of Asset Strategy Manager. 
He also held senior engineering 
management roles in New Zealand and 
the UK. Mr McLeod is a member of the 
Institute of Mechanical Engineers (UK). 
He holds professional qualifications in 
the areas of engineering and applied 
finance.

Michael Bessell 
BEc, LLB (Hons), GradDipAppFin, GAICD

Mr Bessell is AMP Capital’s Head of 
Origination and Separately Managed 
Accounts, Australia and New Zealand. 
He leads AMP Capital’s Australian 
and New Zealand origination team 
and also has responsibility for AMP 
Capital’s $4 billion customised 
accounts infrastructure business.  
Mr Bessell has more than 24 years  
of investment banking and investment 
experience, with a focus on mergers 
and acquisitions, equity raising and 
developing infrastructure projects 
as a sponsor or principal across all 
infrastructure subsectors. He has 
worked in Europe and North America 
and has led teams undertaking 
investments in Europe, Australasia 
and North America. During the past 
five years, his team has transacted 
and executed investments with 
an enterprise value of more than 
$5 billion. He is a member of the 
AMP Capital Alternative Assets 
Investment committee, is on the global 
infrastructure management committee 
and serves as a director of a number 
of investee companies. Mr Bessell  
was appointed to the Powerco Board 
in April 2015.

Michael Cummings
BEng, MIPENZ, MInstD, GAICD

Mr Cummings is AMP Capital’s 
Head of Australian and Infrastructure 
NZ Funds, including responsibility 
for leading its Energy and Utilities 
Sector team. He is also the Fund 
Manager for AMP Capital’s domestic 
flagship fund ADIT, with investments 
in transport, energy and social 
infrastructure assets. Before joining 
AMP Capital, Mr Cummings was the 
Chief Operating Officer (Energy) at 
Brookfield Infrastructure. This involved 
international governance roles as  
the Chair or Director on a number  
of company boards around the world, 
including NGPL and Cross Sound 
Cable in the US, the International 
Energy Group in the UK, DBP and  
WA Gas Networks in Western 
Australia, and the Tasmanian Gas 
Pipeline. With more than 26 years’ 
experience in the infrastructure sector, 
Mr Cummings was re-appointed to 
the Powerco Board in 2013, having 
previously been a director between 
2008-2012 when working for 
Brookfield (and its predecessor BBI). 

Jo Birnie
BSc (Hons), Psy, CIPD, CMHRINZ

Group Human Resources Manager

Mrs Birnie joined Powerco in 
June 2010. Before her current 
role, she was employed as an HR 
advisor specialising in learning and 
development. Since immigrating 
with her family to New Zealand from 
the UK in 2007, Mrs Birnie has held 
generalist HR roles as well as being 
Committee Secretary for the Human 
Resources Institute of New Zealand 
Taranaki branch. She has more 
than 10 years’ experience in human 
resources, holding management, 
specialist, generalist and business 
partner roles in the private and 
public sectors, including central 
Government, health and the retail 
industry. Her HR specialist areas 
include leadership, organisational 
development, change management 
and coaching. In addition to HR roles, 
she has worked on European funding 
and corporate business projects. Mrs 
Birnie is a graduate member of the 
Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development (UK) and a member  
of the Human Resources Institute  
of New Zealand.

Stuart Dickson 
BEng (Mech)

General Manager (Gas)

Mr Dickson joined Powerco in 2011 
as General Manager (Gas). He is a 
professional engineer who has worked 
in the gas and energy industry for the 
past 25 years in New Zealand and 
the UK. His experience spans asset 
strategy and management, network 
and plant operations, project delivery, 
consulting and engineering. Before 
joining Powerco, Mr Dickson worked  
as a consultant within the gas industry 
and was previously part of Vector’s  
Gas Management Team.

Julie McAvoy 
MSc, BEng (Hons)

Group Health, Safety, Environmental  
and Quality Manager

Mrs McAvoy joined Powerco in 2015 
and manages the HSEQ team, which 
supports the wider Powerco company 
and service providers to achieve zero 
harm to people and the environment. 
She holds a Mechanical Engineering 
degree and a Masters in Mechatronics. 
During her 25 years’ experience, 
Mrs McAvoy has held a number of 
engineering, project management 
and leadership roles in the UK and 
New Zealand in heavy engineering 
and marine, including eight years with 
Rolls-Royce Marine. Since immigrating 
to New Zealand in 2009, Mrs McAvoy’s 
experience has been in the oil and gas 
sector in Taranaki. She has worked for 
both an integrated energy company 
and engineering, procurement, and 
construction contractors in operations, 
engineering leadership and quality, 
health, safety and environment (QHSE) 
roles. Her experience ranges from 
engineering and project management, 
design for safety, lean six sigma, 
and QHSE management through to 
strategic planning and execution.

Chris Taylor  
BCom, MBA, CA

Chief Financial Officer

Mr Taylor is Powerco’s Chief Financial 
Officer, responsible for the company’s 
accounting and treasury activities. 
Mr Taylor joined Powerco in October 
2016. He is a chartered accountant 
with more than 20 years’ experience 
in the energy sector and professional 
services. Before working at Powerco, 
Mr Taylor was the General Manager of 
Finance at Counties Power and was a 
partner at PwC, advising on a range of 
sector issues. Mr Taylor has a Bachelor 
of Commerce and a Master of Business 
Administration, and is a member of 
Chartered Accountants Australia and 
New Zealand, the Institute of Directors, 
and Governance NZ.
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Powerco at a glance
Powerco is a leading New Zealand electricity and 
gas infrastructure business providing distribution 
services to 442,000* customers throughout the 
North Island.

350*

full-time equivalent  
employees across branches  
in New Plymouth, Palmerston 
North, Wellington and Tauranga.

106,000* 
customers connected  
to our gas networks. 

336,000* 
customers connected to  
our electricity networks.

8,570,000* GJ 
of gas conveyed for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.

4,800* GWh 
of electricity conveyed for the 
year ended 31 March 2017.

36,000+
kilometres of combined network 
length spanning 28 territorial 
authorities, six regional councils 
and 11 electorates. 

Powerco is New Zealand’s 
largest gas distribution utility. 
Our gas pipeline networks 
are in Taranaki, Hutt Valley, 
Porirua, Wellington, Horowhenua, 
Manawatu and Hawke’s Bay.

Powerco is New Zealand’s second 
largest electricity utility. Our 
electricity networks are in Western 
Bay of Plenty, Thames, Coromandel, 
Eastern and Southern Waikato, 
Taranaki, Whanganui, Rangitikei, 
Manawatu and Wairarapa. 

*approximately 

Corporate Governance Statement 

As a listed issuer on the NZX Debt  
Market (NZDX), Powerco is required  
to include a statement on its corporate 
governance policies, practices and 
processes in its annual report. In 
determining its approach to corporate 
governance, the Board has particular 
regard to the NZX Corporate Governance 
Best Practice Code and the principles 
outlined in the Financial Markets Authority 
Corporate Governance Handbook. 

The Board is responsible for the overall 
direction and management of Powerco  
and for protecting and enhancing the value 
of the company’s assets. To achieve these 
objectives, it has adopted the following 
overarching governance objectives:  

•  To lay solid foundations for management 
and oversight 

•  To structure itself to add value and 
encourage performance growth 

•  To promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making 

•  To safeguard the integrity of its financial 
reporting 

•  To respect the rights of its shareholders 
and recognise the legitimate interests  
of stakeholders 

•  To recognise and manage risk 

•  To remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Board composition 
The Board comprises six non-executive 
directors who are nominated and appointed 
in accordance with an agreement between 
the shareholders of Powerco’s parent 
company, Powerco NZ Holdings Ltd. The 
Board has enacted a Board Charter, which 
emphasises the importance of directors 
being introduced to the management and 

business of the company and of on-going 
education to ensure that directors are able 
to effectively perform their duties. Board and 
director performance is regularly assessed 
and evaluated. Directors’ remuneration is 
reviewed at least annually. Input is sought 
from independent, professional advisers 
on director remuneration. As Powerco’s 
shares are not publicly traded, directors’ 
remuneration does not include any equity 
security components.

Board committees 
The following committees have been 
established to assist the Board, each 
governed by a Committee Charter: 

•  A Regulatory Committee to ensure 
Powerco is meeting its regulatory 
requirements and to assist the Board  
in relation to mitigating regulatory  
risks and exercising due diligence  
in relation to regulatory engagement. 
The committee members are Tom Parry 
(Chair), Michael Cummings, Gordon Hay 
and John Loughlin.  

•  A Treasury Committee to assist the 
Board in relation to debt capital funding, 
treasury management (including 
on-going development and review of 
treasury policies) and minimising the 
total cost of capital. The committee 
members are Michael Bessell (Chair), 
Gordon Hay and John Loughlin. 

•  An Audit and Risk Committee to  
oversee the integrity of financial 
reporting and manage the relationship 
with external auditors, including the 
monitoring of their independence.  
The committee is also responsible 
for the company’s internal control 
environment and risk management 
framework. The committee members  
are Paul Callow (Chair), Michael Bessell, 
Gordon Hay and John Loughlin. 

•  The HR and Remuneration Committee’s 
role is to provide advice to the Board 
on human resources and remuneration 
policies for employees (including 
for the Chief Executive and senior 
management), performance-based 
components of remuneration and the 
remuneration of directors. The committee 
members are John Loughlin (Chair), 
Michael Cummings and Gordon Hay. 

The Board regularly assesses the 
performance of each committee against  
its Charter and reviews each Charter. 

Code of Ethics 
The Board regularly reviews Powerco’s 
Code of Ethics, which applies to the 
personal and professional behaviour of 
all directors, senior management and 
other staff at Powerco. The Code requires 
Powerco’s directors and staff to be 
accountable for acting honestly and with 
integrity, care and diligence. These are also 
reflected in Powerco’s values on page 4. 

The Code emphasises the importance of 
managing conflicts of interest and using 
Powerco assets and information properly. 
Provisions in the Code about securities 
trading and insider trading are expanded in 
separate policies and procedures. Powerco 
has whistle-blowing procedures in place and 
mechanisms to protect whistle-blowers.

Tauranga

Napier

Hastings

Wellington

Palmerston North

Whanganui

New Plymouth

Electricity networks

Gas networks
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Financial snapshot 2017 
$million

2016 
$million

Income 466.7 457.2

EBITDAF 254.2 253.3

Net loss on disposals, depreciation and amortisation 85.8 90.4

EBIT 168.4 162.9

NPAT 58.5 64.4

Total equity 541.1 540.6

Total assets 2,221.8 2,173.3

Borrowings 1,322.1 1,267.8

Key financial measures

EBITDAF/revenue 54.5% 55.4%

EBITDAF/revenue less pass-through costs 73.7% 74.1%

Equity/total assets 24.4% 24.9%

Gearing ratio 59.9% 59.7%

Net interest cover (EBIT/net finance costs) 2.1 times 2.0 times

Underlying profit*            89.6            82.7 

Net profit after tax            58.5            64.4 

Dividends            58.5            58.7 

*Net profit before tax less gains or losses on financial instruments.

Delivering results

* The 2014 figure was impacted by a one-off configuration of metering assets  
at Carter Holt Harvey (Kinleith).

* The ICP count includes the status of active, inactive and ready, as this aligns to 
the definition of the number of connections in the electricity industry information 
disclosure requirements and ensures figures are reported consistently.

Energy transported in gigawatt hours (GWh) 
across Powerco’s electricity networks  
in the 12 months ending 31 March

Energy transported in gigajoules (GJ)  
across Powerco’s gas networks  
in the 12 months ending 31 March

4,8092016

4,7152015

4,770*2014

4,8022013

4,8022017 8,572,333**2017
8,829,1982016

8,938,6412015

8,798,9262014

8,975,3652013

Customer connections

Energy transported

Electricity customer connections* as at 31 March 

332,2472016

328,9132015

325,8602014

323,5152013

104,4392016

103,7882015

102,5382014

103,0092013

Gas customer connections**as at 31 March

Total Revenue for the period ($000) 

445,902

401,427

415,407

2015

2014

2013

NPAT for the period ($000) 

58,5102017

457,240

466,7152017

2016 64,4402016

73,664

91,831

62,076

2015

2014

2013

Earnings before finance costs, loss on disposal, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and financial instruments for the period ($000) Total assets employed at end of period ($000)

254,1792017

249,226

224,086

227,141

253,2732016

2015

2014

2013

2,221,8362017

2,053,404

1,912,742

1,940,375

2015

2014

2013

2016 2,173,321

335,843 105,91720172017

** Billable connections, consisting active, active vacant and ready status.

* * During 2017, Fonterra Pahiatua connected directly to the high pressure 
pipeline. While large in volume, ~400GJ per annum, the site was a low 
$/GJ customer and the impact to the revenue line is minimal in comparison  
to the volume impact.
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Public safety
Keeping safe around downed power lines 
has also been the focus of the company’s 
public safety campaign. Through a 
hard-hitting video clip, which debuted 
at the Central Districts Field Days event 
in Manawatu and on Powerco’s social 
media accounts in March 2017, viewers 
witnessed the result of not keeping clear of 
fallen lines. The consequence is ‘deadly’ – 
the car driver, played by an actor, gets  
out of his crashed vehicle, which is draped 
in downed power lines and a pole, and  
is electrocuted. 

Powerco Group Health, Safety, 
Environment and Quality Manager Julie 
McAvoy made no apologies for the graphic 
content of the clip.

“Safety is a top priority for Powerco and  
we want to make sure people are fully 
aware of the dangers of lines that have 
fallen. Power lines can come down for 
a variety of reasons – in high winds, by 

trees in storms, if they are hit by high 
equipment, or in motor vehicle accidents. 
It’s very important that people remember 
that downed lines are deadly. Treat all fallen 
lines as live and that electricity is still flowing 
through those cables.”

People are urged to stay well away from 
fallen power lines and, once safe, call 111. 
If in a crashed vehicle with lines down, the 
message is to stay in the vehicle and also 
call emergency services.

External review
Following an external audit by the ACC 
Workplace Safety Management Programme 
(WSMP), we retained the highest tertiary 
accreditation standard. WSMP recognises 
employers who have established health 
and safety systems and good practices 
in injury prevention. The review included 
a visit from an auditor to view evidence 
of health and safety systems in practice 
and in documents, as well as focus group 
interviews with employees and managers.

Powerco was able to provide evidence for 
all of the audit standards and demonstrate 
continuous improvement since the last 
audit in 2014 in the area of contractor 
approvals to work on our network, safety  
in design, communicating our asset 
hazards and working collaboratively  
with our service providers.

We also retained our NZS 7901 Public 
Safety System accreditation for both the 
gas and electricity businesses, reinforcing 
our commitment to keeping the public safe. 
The auditors considered we were leading 
the way for industry in areas such as crew 
competency, engineering standards and 
hazard reviews.

Safety in design
We are working towards putting in place 
specific ‘safety in design’ processes to help 
our people make good decisions around risk. 
Safety in design encompasses all stages of 
a project, including concept design, detailed 
design, construction, commissioning, 

Staying safe
We are committed to keeping people 
safe. Whether they are customers,  
staff, contractors or the general  
public, ensuring their health and  
safety is a priority.

Our goal is zero serious harm incidents 
but, regrettably, we had five incidents 
that caused injury during the year. 
Understanding the lessons to be learned 
from these incidents is vital and we  
will continue to do what is necessary  
to keep people safe.

Powerco’s health and safety performance 
is measured in a number of ways, including 
monitoring reactive outcomes and 
proactive actions. We are moving towards 
more proactive monitoring, which will in 
turn improve safety around our assets 
by taking steps to prevent incidents from 
happening in the first place. Here are some 
of our areas of focus.

operations, decommissioning and disposal 
of assets. 

In 2016, the Electricity Engineers’ 
Association (EEA) published its first safety 
in design guide. It was prepared by the 
EEA Asset Management Group, which 
was led by Chairman Michael Whaley, 
Powerco’s Acting Asset Manager. 

“The guide provides us with assurance  
that the steps we are taking are consistent 
with the rest of the industry. The EEA has 
considerable influence in the health and 
safety area, and it’s very positive they have 
released this guide at this time,” Powerco 
General Manager (Electricity) Andrew 
McLeod said.

“Mike’s role as Chairman of the Asset 
Management Group for EEA has helped 
with that. It’s clear the guide draws strongly 
on the thinking developed by the wider 
Powerco team.”

Safety around downed lines
Powerco’s Network Operations Centre 
(NOC) has improved the way it responds to 
reports of fallen power lines by using a new 
risk evaluation process. In the past, downed 
high voltage lines were given priority over 
downed low voltage lines. While the risk 
of harm from high voltage is generally 
greater than low voltage, the potential for 
harm from either is high, depending on 
site specific circumstances. Consequently, 
we are now prioritising resources to 
address those incidents with highest risk 
of injury first, based on site specific risk 
assessments. Among other things, we do 
this by asking questions of people at the 
scene to ascertain the risks of injury at each 
site. Questions include, the potential risks 
to people, evidence of live lines, accurate 
address and network locations, and the 
inclusion of scene photos. Until the site 
can be made safe, where possible the site 
is also contained to ensure people are not 
exposed to undue harm.

Left: Keeping people safe around 
downed power lines is a focus of 
Powerco’s public safety campaign. 

Below: A scene from our hard- 
hitting safety video which can be 
viewed here. The sequel can be 
viewed here.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9KRe5C7499o
www.youtube.com/watch?v=AgVji3ATvIo
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on a project to replace ageing oil-filled 
underground cables supplying the inner city 
that had become at risk of failure. While the 
underground works were undertaken, we 
constructed a 3km temporary overhead line 
in the central city to provide extra security  
of electricity supply for our customers. 
We have appreciated Palmerston North 
residents’ patience as we get these 
important works completed.

Boost in gas pressure
To ensure we continue to deliver a safe  
and reliable gas supply to our customers, 
in the past year we began stage two of 
a project to significantly increase gas 
pressure in Wellington’s CBD. It involved 
transferring about a quarter of Wellington’s 
CBD low pressure network to medium 
pressure, effectively doubling the capacity 
of the network. This means people in the 
Capital’s CBD who want gas will continue 
to get a reliable supply, both now and in  
the future. Pressure to the rest of the CBD 
will be lifted during the next five years.

Delivering a reliable supply
In the past 12 months, Powerco has 
invested heavily in its electricity and 
gas networks to ensure the needs of 
its 442,000 customers are being met. 
We are focused on serving the towns, 
cities and rural communities that rely 
on our networks, and are committed 
to supporting population growth and 
business development.

We invested $201.8 million to maintain, 
renew and develop Powerco’s electricity 
and gas networks, and completed more 
than 12,700 projects. 

Reinforcing our urban areas
Manawatu customers have been 
benefactors of some of the largest 
projects in our footprint as we future-proof 
Palmerston North’s energy supply. To ensure 
the residents of Manawatu’s economic 
hub continue to have a reliable and secure 
electricity supply, we have embarked 

Keeping field crews safe

New voice radio system
Powerco is working with global 
telecommunications company Hytera, 
communications solutions company Zetron, 
and project partner Broadspectrum to 
develop a new voice radio system, that will 
help the safety of workers in the field.

The new radio system will allow coverage 
to the majority of Powerco’s large and 
geographically diverse network and will 
replace outdated radio transmitters that 
have a smaller reach. The new technology 
will mean New Plymouth-based NOC 
operators will have a much greater 
awareness of what is happening out in  
the field, particularly during storms. 

Our network area includes rugged and 
remote areas where field staff often lose 
all communication. The new system will 
go a long way to resolving those black 
spots and includes the building of 30 new 
repeater stations to add to existing sites. 

Once operating, it will allow our field staff 
to maintain contact with our Customer 
Services Team and NOC while working  
in most parts of our network. 

Live line work

We are committed to keeping our field crews 
safe and take all practicable steps to ensure 
they go home to their families every day. 

De-energising the electricity network while 
field staff are working on it is safer in some 

A 3km temporary power line  
in Palmerston North’s CBD  
was installed to ensure 
continued security of supply to 
the city while new underground 
cables were installed.

Gas pressure for Palmerston North 
customers has also been improved through 
a $1.2 million project that made use of an 
old cast iron gas pipeline that traverses the 
city. Residential and commercial growth 
in the eastern part of the city had led to 
customers experiencing low gas pressure 
during periods of high demand. The 
solution was to install about 5km of gas 
main along State Highway 3 and a new 
gas supply point. The new polyethylene 
gas pipe was inserted in a large duct, 
part of the original gas network built in 
the late 1800s to supply coal gas to the 
town. By using this, disruption and impact 
on motorists as well as residents and 
businesses was reduced while the work 
was carried out. 

Record gas growth
The Gas Hub connected a record 2,075 
residential customers to natural gas during 
the year. Connection numbers in both the 
subdivision and infill housing markets were 
up approximately 25% on the previous 

Below: Powerco works closely with 
its contracting partners to ensure 
workers are kept safe.

“We recognise the hazards that 
exist for our service providers  
on such a large geographical 
area. This new technology 
will provide a reliable way to 
communicate with field staff  
and for contractors to get help  
in an emergency.”
Phil Marsh, Network Operations Manager

situations. However the nature of our 
large and geographically diverse network 
means there is added risk compared with 
networks in urban areas. 

Therefore, we are working with our 
service providers to develop a risk-based 
assessment of our network about when 
live line work may be appropriate, using the 
industry-developed Electricity Engineers’ 
Association guide. We want to be assured 
that the decision we jointly recommend is 
indeed the safest for our field crews.
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Left: An early weather warning 
issued by our team helped 
customers in the Taihape region 
better cope with a storm that 
dumped metres of snow, downing 
power poles and lines. 

Below: To improve reliability 
of supply for remote Pongaroa 
customers, a $1 million project 
was undertaken to install new 
11kV switchgear and replace the 
Pongaroa substation transformer.

at Pongaroa – 50km east of Pahiatua in  
Wairarapa – is in one of the most remote 
areas on our network and serves 631 
customers over a vast area. To improve 
reliability of supply for those customers, 
a $1 million project was undertaken to 
install new 11kV switchgear and replace 
the substation transformer. The challenging 
project involved transporting the portacom 
building to house the new equipment 
across single lane bridges and rugged 
terrain. But the results were well worth 
it. The switchgear was moved indoors, 
meaning less maintenance, the oil-based 
equipment was replaced, which is better  
for the environment, the substation is  
now monitored live at the Network 
Operations Centre in New Plymouth and, 
most importantly, the upgrade ensured  
a reliable and safe electricity supply for  
our customers. 

Weathering storms, snow and shakes
In August, an early weather warning issued 
by our team helped customers in the 

Taihape region better cope with a storm 
that dumped metres of snow, downing 
power poles and lines. While power was 
restored as quickly as possible in the trying 
conditions, generators were delivered to 
those customers in need.   

A double hit in November – the 7.8 
magnitude Kaikoura earthquake followed 
closely by high winds in our network area – 
cut power to 30,000 customers in Taranaki, 
Whanganui, Manawatu and Wairarapa. The 
earthquake caused overhead power lines 
to clash, triggering supply to automatically 
shut off. Each affected line had to be 
physically checked by field staff before it 
could be turned on again. However, thanks 
to hard work by staff and field contractors, 
within hours more than 28,000 customers 
had power restored.

Heavy rain wreaked havoc on the 
Coromandel Peninsula in March 2017. 
Severe flooding resulted in 8,000 
customers in and around Whangamata  
and Whitianga being without power at 

year. This surge in gas connections can 
be attributed to several reasons, including 
adding two extra home shows – to make 
five – in the marketing programme, the 
benefit of a full year of The Gas Hub’s new 
branding and customer-centric messaging, 
a multi-channel winter heating campaign, 
and an upturn in consumer confidence.

Commercial growth is also buoyant 
across Powerco’s gas regions, with new 
commercial connections up more than 
30% on last year. Economic growth in 
the Hawke’s Bay is gathering pace with 
the commercial team working closely 
with a number of large, greenfield 
industrial customers in the region, building 
relationships with them to fully understand 
their operations and gas requirements for 
now and the future.

Powering Pongaroa customers
Powerco networks span large areas of 
urban and rural New Zealand, and we 
are committed to serving our customers 
wherever they may be. The substation 

Below: To ensure we continue to deliver a safe  
and reliable gas supply to our customers, in the past  
year we began stage two of a project to significantly 
increase gas pressure in Wellington’s CBD.

various times. In the biggest single cut, 
more than 6,000 customers lost power 
after a slip caused by flooding cut supply 
to the main line to Whangamata. Our field 
crews worked in tough conditions to restore 
power, including going into cut-off areas  
on foot.

* Powerco’s SAIDI for 2017 was 204.2 minutes, within the 
regulatory cap of 210.6 minutes. The company’s SAIFI was  
2.49, meeting the regulatory cap of 2.52.
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The proposal forms the basis of our 
application to the Commerce Commission 
for a CPP, which was expected to be 
submitted in June 2017.

The scale of consultation was 
unprecedented and included:

•  Meetings and forums attended by  
more than 200 people representing 
electricity retailers, major customers, 
councils and stakeholder groups.

•  Publication of consultation documents 
targeting different audiences, supported 
by an online survey and video on a 
dedicated website, which was viewed 
more than 4,000 times.

•  Social media advertising (Facebook  
and Twitter), which reached 92,000 
users in our distribution areas,  
with the video viewed more than  
60,000 times.

•  Print advertising, run as inserts in 
newspapers and rural publications  
in our areas, which had a circulation  
of 159,400.

We believe our CPP proposal strikes 
the right balance between keeping bills 
affordable and investing in our assets for 
the benefit of today’s customers and future 
generations. Through consultation, we 
received some constructive and largely 
positive feedback. Powerco’s commitment 
to providing a safe, secure and resilient 
network and investing in its regional 
communities appeared to be behind  
those positive responses.

Rating customer service
Alongside investment consultation,  
we have continued to seek customer 
feedback at the annual Mystery Creek  
and Central Districts field days. At the 
events, people visiting our stand were 
asked about aspects of their power  
supply and safety around our network,  
and 4,565 surveys were completed.  
About 46% (2,085) of those were  
Powerco customers and 94% rated  
the reliability of their electricity supply  
as acceptable or better. 

Engaging with customers
Whether we power their home or 
business, or assist their large industrial 
energy needs, we value our connection 
with customers. Their feedback helps us 
shape the future of Powerco’s electricity 
and gas networks.

We talk with and collect feedback from 
customers in a variety of ways, including 
face-to-face at public events, stakeholder 
meetings and focus groups, as well as 
through surveys, social media, consultation 
documents and videos. In the past year, 
our programme of community consultation 
has increased as we prepare a proposal 
application to the Commerce Commission 
for a customised price-quality path (CPP).

Future investment consultation
In January, we launched a major 
programme of customer engagement, 
seeking feedback from all our stakeholders 
on the 2018-2023, $1.4 billion investment 
proposal for our electricity network areas. 

Powerco’s gas marketing team, The Gas 
Hub, surveyed 1,315 people during the year. 
This included online surveying of customers, 
commissioned research and asking people 
at home shows about the benefits of natural 
gas. One survey of 258 customers who 
recently connected to gas, aimed to find 
out why and how customers opted for gas, 
and the level of service provided during 
the connection process. The research has 
enabled the team to develop benchmarks, 
including a Net Promoter Score (NPS), a 
global loyalty metric used to gauge how 
willing a customer is to recommend a 
product or service, on an index ranging 
from -100 to 100.

The company achieved a ‘strong 
satisfaction’ rating and the research 
spurred a host of actions that will further 
improve the connection process and 
service, including developing a campaign 
to retain gas customers. We now have a 
clear benchmark and will regularly survey 
new customers with the aim of improving 
our NPS of +48.

Supporting the commercial and 
industrial sector
Powerco understands the importance of 
meeting regularly with our commercial and 
industrial customers and supporting them 
to effectively manage their energy needs 
and understand any pricing changes.  
As part of this, we engage in industry-
specific forums with groups such as the 
kiwifruit industry in the western Bay of 
Plenty. These forums allow us to zero-in on 
industry specific energy needs, including 
the impacts of pricing at harvest time.

We have more than 700 major customers 
connected to our electricity network and 
a further 250 to our gas network. Our 
regional account managers speak regularly 
with these customers to support their 
business growth requirements and work 
through pricing methodologies. We also 
survey our commercial/industrial customers 
to find out how they rate our services and 
business support, and that of our main 
field services contractor, Downer. The 
results tell us that 68% of commercial/

Centre: Staff from The Gas Hub  
spoke with customers at a variety  
of home show events held in our  
gas distribution areas.

Left: Customers have said they 
appreciate being able to interact with  
a Powerco staff member at events,  
such as the Central Districts Field Days 
in Manawatu, and have that person 
follow-up their issue to conclusion.

Below: We organise major customer 
events. Together with Transpower,  
we hosted representatives of the  
Mid-Central District Health Board  
(DHB), New Zealand Defence Force 
and Goodman Fielder at Manawatu’s 
Bunnythorpe substation.

industrial customers rate interaction with 
us as ‘good’ or ‘very good’. We have also 
gained insights into what we can do better, 
including providing more timely information 
on power cuts, and assisting customers 
to understand how Powerco approaches 
long-term planning, renewing assets 
and options analysis. We are working 
on improving our communication with 
customers in these areas.

We also organise major customer events. 
In mid-2016, together with Transpower,  
we hosted the Mid-Central District  
Health Board (DHB), New Zealand  
Defence Force and Goodman Fielder  
at Manawatu’s Bunnythorpe substation  
for a tour of the switchyard and a 
discussion on energy options. Jeff Small, 
from Mid-Central DHB, found the day 
informative and enjoyable. 

“It is important that we maintain 
communication as our services change  
or expand over the next few years. It 
enables us to explore all options and  
best efficiencies with our energy usage.”

Powerco’s CPP team has been 
busy meeting customers across 
all parts of our operating area. 



Back to contents >20  Powerco Ltd Annual Report 2017 Powerco Ltd Annual Report 2017      21 

Power lines in remote rural areas can be 
vulnerable to damage from storms, landslips 
and trees – causing power cuts. Powered 
by renewable energy from the sun with 
batteries for energy storage and a back-up 
generator, Base Power keeps the power on 
for customers in these remote areas, even  
if it’s out on the local electricity network.

In November, Powerco’s Board of Directors 
approved the purchase of 20 new Base 
Power units after viewing a redesigned 
model in Tauranga. Nine of the stand-alone 
units have been installed in remote areas  
of our network since 2011. 

That successful trial period encouraged 
further development and the new outer box 
now allows helicopters to fly the units on-
site and also provides flexibility for different 
battery technology. Several existing users 
will have their old units replaced with the 
new version this year.

Base Power offers an off-grid energy system 
as an alternative to rebuilding lines in remote 
areas. The Tangahoe Valley, inland from 

Hawera in Taranaki, is a region of focus 
for us. It has a history of being isolated 
by violent storms that have caused major 
damage to our infrastructure. Power lines 
are regularly torn down in high winds and  
the use of Base Power units would provide  
a higher degree of security of supply.

Powerco is also making Base Power 
available to outside clients, such as other 
lines companies. However the focus 
remains on ensuring supply issues for 
remote rural customers on Powerco’s 
network are addressed. The Downs Group 
in Marton is contracted by Powerco to 
produce and maintain the units.

Electric vehicle chargers
Powerco continued to support the 
development of a corridor of electric vehicle 
(EV) charging stations within its network, in 
partnership with ChargeNet NZ and various 
local councils. New Zealand’s uptake of 
EVs will place different demands on our 
electricity network in the future and we are 
working closely with a number of market 

New technology
Off-grid energy units, electric vehicle 
charging stations and smart home 
technology were once a scientific or 
engineering vision. Now making sure 
Powerco’s network is ready to support 
these new technologies is an integral 
part of the company’s operation as it 
keeps pace with the rapid developments 
affecting electricity and gas distribution.

Keeping abreast of the changing needs  
of our customers and supporting these  
new technologies is an exciting challenge 
for all Powerco employees.

Off-grid technology
Expanding our Base Power programme  
has been a key focus in the past year.  
Base Power is Powerco’s standalone,  
off-grid energy unit that gives remote 
customers the electricity they need  
without having to rely on traditional  
power poles and lines.

participants to ensure we are ready to 
support this exciting new technology. 

During the year, five charging stations were 
installed and began operating in Thames, 
Palmerston North, Featherston, Tauranga 
and Mangaweka. These added to the two 
charging stations launched in Mt Maunganui 
and New Plymouth the previous year. It is 
proposed the number of chargers will triple 
to 21 by the end of the 2020 financial year.

In October, Nigel Barbour further signalled 
Powerco’s commitment to the use of EVs. He 
announced that by 2019 more than 30% of 
the company’s corporate vehicle fleet would 
be electric. That challenge was also accepted 
by 29 other chief executives across New 
Zealand. The initiative will represent about 
1,450 vehicles and will increase the number 
of EVs on New Zealand roads by 75%.

Trialling drones
Powerco is investigating the use of drones 
as a new method of conducting remote 
rural inspection surveys.

In conjunction with Raglan drone 
manufacturer, Aeronavics, we conducted 
a pilot trial that included gauging a drone’s 
ability to gather meaningful data on asset 
condition and the challenges of a network 
situated in remote hilly terrain.

An initial highlight was the drone’s ability 
to quickly inspect long sections of line.  
It has a distance range of 50km, can  
travel at 100kmh and has the ability to  
carry 15kg in monitoring equipment.

Customer response to the trial has 
been positive, with many local farmers 
watching the trial and praising Powerco 
for its innovative approach to remote asset 
management. Research of our use of 
drones will continue through FY18 alongside 
Aeronavics and the Civil Aviation Authority.

Future energy leader
Powerco has celebrated the appointment 
of its senior research analyst Daniel Gnoth 
to the World Energy Council’s Future 
Energy Leaders programme.

Each member committee of the 
World Energy Council, in this case the 
BusinessNZ Energy Council, is invited 
to nominate their most promising young 
professionals for the global programme.

Daniel has been a senior analyst at 
Powerco since 2015 after finishing his PhD 
from Otago University, where he looked at 
how changes in material culture, such as 
moving house, may influence how energy  
is used in the home.

Centre: Powerco continues to 
support the development of a 
corridor of EV charging stations  
within its network.

Below: Palmerston North City 
Councillor Brent Barrett plugs-in 
at the opening of the first EV fast 
charger in the city.

Base Power units give remote customers 
reliable, off-grid energy. Nine of the stand-alone 
units, including this one, have been installed  
in remote areas of our network since 2011.

Masterton
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Mangatarata
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Caring for the environment

Far left: The high standards 
we set for our operations were 
recognised in the international 
GRESB Infrastructure Survey, 
with Powerco coming first in 
the Energy Transmission and 
Distribution category. 

Left: Tauranga Powerco staff 
with their haul of rubbish 
collected during a foreshore 
clean-up for Keep New 
Zealand Beautiful week.

annual external compliance audits of 
our Environmental Management System 
(EMS) against international best practice 
criteria. We have achieved the Enviro-Mark 
Diamond level after establishing robust 
environmental risk management processes, 
communicating our environmental policy 
statement and testing our environmental 
emergency plans. Achieving and 
retaining our Diamond level requires us to 
continuously monitor our environmental 
performance, ensure staff receive EMS 
training, continuous improvement, and 
internal auditing of our EMS.

International benchmark
During the year, Powerco participated  
in the GRESB Infrastructure Survey. This  
is a global benchmarking of environmental, 
social and governance performance across 
companies in North America, Europe and 
Australasia. The results were published 
in October and Powerco ranked first in 
the Energy Transmission and Distribution 
category and eighth overall out of the 
134 companies that participated. This 

demonstrates the high standards that  
we set for our operations. 

Managing oil-filled assets
The majority of environmental risks on  
our electricity network relate to potential 
oil leaks, mainly from our transformer and 
cable assets. We inspect our assets and,  
if significant leaks are found, we ensure  
any contaminated soil is removed from 
the site and soil tests are done to ensure 
proper remediation. During 2016, the 
Kairanga to Pascal underground cable 
circuit in Palmerston North was found to  
be leaking at a faster rate than previously. 
The cable was shut down because of 
concerns it would fail and because of  
the on-going environmental impacts of  
oil leaking into the surrounding soil. The 
cable is being replaced with a new 33kV, 
non-oil-filled cable.

A small number of our power transformers 
have inadequate or no oil bund containers. 
As with oil-filled cables, a transformer that 
leaks oil can contaminate the soil and poses 
an environmental hazard. We are addressing 

Powerco is committed to achieving and 
maintaining the highest environmental 
standards. We see ourselves as 
custodians of our environment and 
manage our electricity and gas assets  
in a manner that minimises pollution 
or any other adverse effects on the 
surrounding environment. 

Environmental awareness is a message that 
is promoted to all employees, with our staff 
doing their bit to improve the environment by 
participating in a range of activities. These 
include Keep New Zealand Beautiful’s annual 
clean-up, separating waste from recyclable 
and compostable items in each office, 
promoting efficient use of electricity, and 
encouraging staff to walk to work or car pool 
as part of the ‘Let’s Go’ programme. Let’s 
Go encourages people in New Plymouth 
district to choose walking, riding or taking 
the bus over using cars for short trips.

We are a member of the independent 
Enviro-Mark Programme and have 

this by installing or upgrading bunds with an 
oil containment and separator system. We 
intend to retrofit all our power transformers, 
apart from those scheduled for renewal, with 
such equipment to reduce the risk of oil spills.

Controlling noise 
Noise pollution is also an environmental 
concern we take seriously. Sometimes 
we need to replace existing power 
transformers with larger units, which can be 
noisier. We understand that an increase in 
noise can affect people living and working 
in the immediate area. For this reason, we 
carry out acoustic testing before installing 
the new transformers and incorporate 
necessary mitigation measures into designs 
to minimise noise pollution.

Emissions Trading Scheme
Powerco passed the threshold for 
being classed a major user of Sulphur 
hexafluoride (SF6) as it has more than 
one tonne of this gas in equipment on the 
electricity network. As a result, Powerco 
is a participant in the Emissions Trading 

Scheme (ETS) under the Climate Change 
Response Act 2002 and is required to 
collect information and data relating to its 
use of SF6, total holdings, maintenance 
and decommissioning. This information is 
reported to the Environmental Protection 
Authority (EPA) and will be audited. The 
EPA assesses that information and tells 
Powerco how many carbon units we need 
to buy to offset our SF6 emissions. 

Sulphur hexafluoride plays an important  
role on Powerco’s networks particularly 
where there is a need for reliable and low 
footprint installations, such as the Safelink 
ground-mounted switch or the Nulec load 
break switch.

The SF6 leak rates for 2015 and 2016 
were 0.33% and 0.46% of total stock 
respectively (the increase in 2016 was 
because of more efficient data collection). 
These are both below the legislative 
compliance level of 2%. We continue  
to pay close attention to this area to  
ensure our environmental impact is as  
low as practical.

Sulphur hexafluoride is a synthetic gas 
used in the electricity industry as an arc-
quenching medium in equipment, such  
as switchgear. It is a non-toxic, non-ozone 
depleting, non-combustible gas with 
insulating, extinguishing and electrical 
properties that provide advantages in 
safety, performance size, weight, economy 
and reliability, compared with oil and 
vacuum-based electrical equipment. 

Environmental, social and  
governance policies
A wider range of information on Powerco’s 
environmental, social and governance 
policies, targets and performance is 
available here. 

www.powerco.co.nz/About-Us/Our-Environment
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In the community
of kindness, with gifts and flowers 
bestowed on unsuspecting people.  
It was our way of thanking Manawatu 
residents for their cooperation during 
a busy period of upgrade work on the 
company’s supply networks in the city.

Anita Nunn, who runs the Helping Hands 
Manawatu Facebook page, coordinating 
donations for financially struggling families 
needing help, was “overwhelmed” when 
she opened her door and was presented 
with flowers, an iPad mini and a $200 
Prezzy card by Powerco staff. A man,  
aged in his 90s, was brought to tears  
when his cafe lunch was unexpectedly  
paid for by Powerco staff.

Lighting up 
Energy distribution and its obvious 
association with creating light has  
seen Powerco support activities that  
light up the night’s sky across its North 
Island network. In the past year, the 
company boosted its presence at New 
Plymouth’s annual Festival of the Lights, 

which was kicked off with the Powerco-
sponsored fireworks display at the 
Christmas at the Bowl show. We were  
also a sponsor of an entertainment stage 
set up in Pukekura Park as part of the 
popular festival. 

We also helped the Illume Festival of Light 
to shine in Coromandel Town in July with  
a fireworks display.

“We are extremely grateful for Powerco’s 
sponsorship. The fireworks display is 
becoming bigger and brighter every  
year,” said Sandra Wilson, one of the  
event organisers.

Keeping kids safe
In Tauranga, thousands of children are 
cycling safer because of Powerco’s support 
of the Kids Can Ride programme – and 
the company has signed on to support 
the initiative for another three years. The 
programme helps to increase students’ 
cycling skills on and off the road, and 
cultivate a love of safe cycling. 

We believe it is our responsibility as a 
business to support the communities 
we work and live in. Throughout the 
past year, we have continued our strong 
sponsorship support of organisations 
across our North Island network. 

We are involved with surf lifesaving  
clubs, school projects, sports groups,  
arts festivals, recreational events, a  
wildlife recovery centre in Palmerston  
North, the Taranaki Garden Spectacular, 
premier shearing and wool handling 
competition Golden Shears in Masterton, 
the Rural Games in Manawatu, and  
many other activities.

Showing heart
While we provide financial support for 
events and groups, we also contribute to 
our communities in ways that demonstrate 
our corporate conscience. In November, 
Palmerston North residents received a 
hearty dose of Powerco’s random acts  

Travel Safe Team Leader Karen Smith 
said Kids Can Ride would not be possible 
without Powerco’s ongoing contribution. 

“The Travel Safe programme is all about 
equipping our communities with the skills 
they need to stay safe on the road, and 
teaching kids how to cycle safely is an 
important part of this,” Travel Safe Team 
Leader Karen Smith said.

“We really appreciate Powerco’s support  
of Kids Can Ride – it makes a huge 
difference, enabling us to hold more  
events and involve many more schools  
and students.”

Inspiring creativity
We nurtured engineers of the future  
with our sponsorship of the Te Aroha  
High School and Hauraki Plains College 
teams at the Waikato EVolocity regional 
finals in September. Fifteen schools 
competed in the inaugural event, which  
got students to design, build and race  
their own electric vehicles.

Te Aroha High students came up with the 
idea of using a surfboard to brace their 
three-wheeler. The base of their entry was 
made from plywood because it was light, 
sustainable and easy to work with. While 
the Powerco-sponsored machines were 
not among the winners, the teams were 
enthusiastic about what they had learned 
and were keen to compete again with new 
engineering feats.

Supporting healthy lifestyles
We also support community initiatives 
through our gas brand, The Gas Hub. 
Together with Upper Hutt City Council’s 
Activation team, The Gas Hub brought back 
the popular Parks and Places programme 
to Upper Hutt in early 2017. Running from 
January through March, the programme 
showcased active recreation in a calendar of 
activities catering for all interests and fitness 
levels. Events included Paws in the Park, 
Bike the Trail and Kev the Kiwi walks. 

A feature for 2017 was the ‘Hydration Hub’, 
with The Gas Hub ensuring participants 

kept hydrated with bottled water. This 
included the popular Bike the Trail, where 
The Gas Hub staff were stationed at the 
halfway point to ensure riders were kept 
watered. This tied in with Upper Hutt City 
Council’s aim to keep community events 
‘fizz-free’, promoting the health benefits  
of water.

The Wellington region is well reticulated 
with gas and is The Gas Hub’s largest 
target market.

Top left: Powerco boosted its presence at 
New Plymouth’s annual Festival of the Lights, 
sponsoring an entertainment stage set up in 
Pukekura Park as part of the popular festival. 

Bottom left: The Gas Hub supported healthy 
lifestyles and gained lots of smiles at Wellington’s 
Bike the Trail event. 

Centre: Anita Nunn (right) was given gifts and 
flowers by Powerco staff members as our random 
act of kindness swept over Palmerston North. 
Photo: Fairfax Media NZ / Manawatu Standard.

Below: Powerco supports initiatives that teach 
children to cycle safely, such as at the Pedal 
Papamoa event. Photo: Brydie Photography.
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Key messages regarding these Financial Statements

How we manage our borrowings and interest rates

Powerco Ltd is a leading New Zealand electricity and  
gas infrastructure company providing distribution services  
to more than 442,000 customers across the central and 
lower North Island.

Our networks have long design lives and our operating 
environment, through being regulated, is relatively steady.

Our profitability is regulated so the management of risks 
is very important. Although we do not ‘hedge account’ for 
accounting purposes, in practice we very carefully manage 
currency and interest rate risk. All hedges entered are on 
‘matched terms’.

Current accounting practice requires us to value financial 
assets and liabilities based on a fair value basis, which  
does not reflect the risk mitigation and true economic  
and financial value to the business on a going concern 
basis. While current accounting practice does have its 
merits, it fails to recognise that in most situations these 
borrowings and hedges will remain in place until maturity.

Reflecting our regulatory environment

The regulatory environment is a key driver for our business. 
The regulated gas and electricity business are shown as 
separate segments, with all unregulated activities included 
in the other segment. Expense categories in the segment 
note also mirror the regulatory categories.

Regulatory frameworks require various reporting of financial 
and non-financial performance separate to these statutory 
financial statements. In all cases the financial reporting 
is reconciled to these financial statements and to the 
extent necessary these accounting policies and financial 
results fully reflect the requirements and implications of the 
regulatory regime on the company.

Electricity and Gas asset management plans are included 
on Powerco’s website. These plans provide an insight into 
our future operational and capital expenditure requirements.
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Statutory Information

Substantial Security Holders
The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared  
in accordance with section 25 of the Securities Markets Act  
1988 recorded the following information as at the date of this 
Annual Report:

Name Type of Voting Securities Number of Voting Securities

Powerco NZ  
Holdings Ltd Ordinary Shares 369,929,053

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of issued 
voting securities was 369,929,053 ordinary shares.

Equity Security Holder Information
As at 25 May 2017:

Name Ordinary Shares Percentage of Issued  
Ordinary Shares

Powerco NZ  
Holdings Ltd 369,929,053 100%

Directors’ Equity Securities
The Directors of Powerco Ltd held no relevant interests in Equity 
Securities in the Company as at 30 April 2017.

Quoted Security Holder Spread
As at 30 April 2017:

Size of Holding Number of Holders Holding Quantity

Ordinary Shares

Over 100,000 1 369,929,053

Total 1 369,929,053

Guaranteed Bonds  
(issued 28 September 2005) 6.74%

5,000 up to 100,000 114 3,642,000

100,000 and over 44 46,358,000

Total 158 50,000,000

Credit Rating
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has the  
following credit ratings:

RATING AGENCY SHORT TERM LONG TERM

Standard & Poor’s A-2 BBB (stable)

NZX Waivers
The Company has relied on a waiver granted on 27 September 2005 
from Listing Rule 5.2.3, in relation to the bonds issued in September 
2005. The effect of this waiver is that the Company is not required  
to have at least 500 members of the public holding those bonds. 

Enforcement Action by NZX
No enforcement action has been taken by NZX during the  
12 months ended 31 March 2017 under Listing Rule 5.4.2.

Gender composition
The gender composition of Powerco Ltd’s directors and  
officers is reported in the table below. The officers category  
consists of the Executive Management Team.

As at 31 March 2017 As at 31 March 2016

Male Female Male Female

Directors 6 0 6 0

Alternate Directors 1 1 2 0

Officers 5 3 6 2

Companies Act 1993
In accordance with section 211(3) of the Companies Act 1993  
(the Act), Powerco NZ Holdings Ltd, as the Company’s sole 
shareholder, has resolved that the Company’s annual report for  
the year ended 31 March 2017 need not comply with sections  
211(1)(a), 211(1)(e) to (j) and 211(2) of the Act and accordingly  
this Annual Report does not state the particulars required by  
those sections.

This Annual Report is dated 25 May 2017 and is signed on  
behalf of the Board by:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2017

NOTES 2017
$000

2016
$000

Revenue and other income 3 466,715 457,240 

Pass-through and recoverable costs (122,043) (115,271)

Network operational expenditure (38,613) (35,421)

System operations and network support (13,789) (14,960)

Business support (38,091) (38,315)

Operating expenses (212,536) (203,967)

Earnings before finance costs, loss on disposal, taxation, depreciation, 
amortisation and financial instruments (EBITDAF) 254,179 253,273 

Net loss on disposal of fixed assets (9,300) (13,481)

Depreciation and amortisation (76,450) (76,898)

Earnings before finance costs, taxation (EBIT) and financial instruments 168,429 162,894 

Finance costs 4 (78,830) (80,155)

(Loss)/gain on financial instruments 5 (6,099) 1,844 

Profit before taxation 83,500 84,583 

Income tax expense 6 (24,990) (20,143)

Profit for the period after tax 58,510 64,440 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

  Cash flow hedges amortised 677 679 

  Income tax expense on cash flow hedges (190) (190)

Total other comprehensive income 487 489 

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 58,997 64,929 

John Loughlin Director Paul Callow Director 

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements on pages 34 to 56.
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

SHARE  
CAPITAL

$000

RETAINED  
EARNINGS

$000

HEDGE
RESERVE

$000
TOTAL

$000

Balance as at 31 March 2015 698,165 (159,163) (4,605) 534,397 

Profit for the period - 64,440 - 64,440 

Cash flow hedges amortised - - 679 679  

Income tax expense on amortisation of cash flow hedges - - (190) (190)

Total comprehensive income, net of tax - 64,440 489  64,929 

Transactions with owners

Dividends  (15.87 cents per share) - (58,708) - (58,708)

Balance as at 31 March 2016 698,165 (153,431) (4,116) 540,618 

Profit for the period - 58,510 - 58,510 

Cash flow hedges amortised - - 677 677 

Income tax expense on amortisation of cash flow hedges - - (190) (190)

Total comprehensive income, net of tax - 58,510 487  58,997 

Transactions with owners

Dividends  (15.82 cents per share) - (58,523) - (58,523)

Balance as at 31 March 2017 698,165 (153,444) (3,629) 541,092 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2017

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements on pages 34 to 56.

NOTES 2017
$000

2016
$000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 400 632 

Trade and other receivables 12 38,503 36,690 

Finance lease receivable 14 503 465 

Other financial assets 10 6 -

Other current assets 383 321 

39,795 38,108 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 2,064,332 1,977,750 

Finance lease receivable 14 8,504 9,008 

Other financial assets 10 94,234 131,856 

Intangible assets 8 14,971 16,599 

2,182,041 2,135,213 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,221,836 2,173,321 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 45,069 40,965 

Employee benefits 16 4,723 4,961 

Other financial liabilities 10 1,451 17,081 

Borrowings 9 58,192 149,354 

109,435 212,361 

Non-current liabilities

Employee benefits 16 1,892 1,818 

Other financial liabilities 10 62,395 82,156 

Borrowings 9 1,263,882 1,118,409 

Deferred tax liability 6 243,140 217,959 

1,571,309 1,420,342 

Equity

Share capital 19 698,165 698,165 

Retained earnings (153,444) (153,431)

Hedge reserve 20 (3,629) (4,116)

541,092 540,618 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,221,836 2,173,321 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2017

John Loughlin  
Director
25 May 2017 

Paul Callow  
Director 
25 May 2017 

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements on pages 34 to 56.
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These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements on pages 34 to 56.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017
$000

2016
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 508,656 506,870 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (231,649) (223,654)

277,007 283,216 

GST paid (19,677) (22,794)

Interest paid (77,992) (79,033)

(97,669) (101,827)

Net cash provided by operating activities 179,338 181,389 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 102 164 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (171,892) (150,574)

Net cash used in investing activities (171,790) (150,410)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 290,400 477,418 

Proceeds from finance leases 465 429 

Loan establishment costs (725) (423)

Repayment of borrowings (239,399) (449,420)

Dividend paid (58,523) (58,708)

Net cash used in financing activities (7,782) (30,704)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (234) 275 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 634 357 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 400 632 

Comprises the following:

Cash and cash equivalents 400 632 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and investments in working capital facilities.

Transactions recorded net in the Financial Statements
The GST component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with Inland Revenue. The GST component has been 
presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial reporting purposes. The gross cash 
flows are presented inclusive of GST.

NOTE 2017
$000

2016
$000

Profit after taxation 58,510 64,440 

Add/(less) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation 76,450 76,898 

Loss on disposal of assets 9,402 13,644 

Non-cash component of finance costs 697 740 

Other losses/(gains) on financial instruments 5 6,099 (1,844)

Non-cash items in relation to investing/financing activities 2,539 2,629 

Non-cash customer contributions (22,154) (16,415)

Increase in deferred tax liability 24,990 20,144 

Other items

GST on property, plant and equipment purchases 20,739 17,358 

Movements in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in assets

Trade and other receivables (1,813) 571 

Other current assets (59) (231)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Trade and other payables 4,103 2,922 

Employee entitlements (165) 533 

Net cash provided by operating activities 179,338 181,389 

Reconciliation of Profit to Net Cash Flows  
from Operating Activities
As at 31 March 2017

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements on pages 34 to 56.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

1. Basis of accounting
General information
Powerco Ltd (the Company) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The addresses of its 
registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the directory of the Annual Report.  

These financial statements have been prepared to comply with the Companies Act 1993, Financial Reporting Act 2013 and the 
Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP. They comply 
with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). They also comply with IFRS. 

These consolidated financial statements are for the economic entity comprising Powerco Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group). 
Powerco Ltd is a profit-oriented entity whose principal activities are electricity and gas distribution. The Group includes three 
subsidiary companies, as follows: 

Subsidiary Principal activity

Powerco Transmission Services (PTS) Design and construction of electrical transmission assets

Powerline Ltd (trading as Base Power) Sells remote area power and energy storage solutions

The Gas Hub Ltd To promote the benefits of using gas

All of the subsidiaries are based and incorporated in New Zealand, have a balance date of 31 March and are 100% owned by 
Powerco Ltd.

The immediate parent of the Group is Powerco NZ Holdings Ltd (PNZHL). The shareholders of PNZHL are QIC Infrastructure 
Management Pty Ltd (33%), QS Infrastructure Pty Ltd (25%), PINZ Holding Company Pty Ltd (27%) and AMP Capital Investors  
Ltd (15%).

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments. Financial 
derivatives are carried at fair value. Borrowings that previously had effective fair value hedges in place are carried at amortised  
cost adjusted for the fair value of interest rate risk covered by the previous effective hedge.

The financial statements are prepared in New Zealand dollars, which is the Group’s presentation currency and the parent’s 
functional currency. Numbers are rounded to the nearest thousand.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made judgements to ensure that amounts are 
appropriately recognised in the financial statements.

Discussed below are items where the key assumptions concerning the future, and/or other key sources of estimation, may create 
uncertainty at 31 March and have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
  The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. 

In this financial year it was deemed that no change to the estimated useful lives was needed. If the estimated useful lives 
of network system assets were 10% higher/lower, earnings before finance costs and taxation for the year would have 
increased/decreased by $8.0 million.

(b)  Classification of expenditure between operating expenditure and capital expenditure
  Judgements on whether to expense or capitalise expenditures are determined by Powerco’s capitalisation standards  

and NZ IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.  In summary, expenditure may be capitalised when:

  i)  It creates a new asset; or

 ii)   It increases the service performance or potential of an existing asset beyond the original performance or service 
performance.

 All other expenditure must be expensed in the period concerned.

Significant accounting policies

a)  Basis of consolidation
  The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Powerco Ltd and its subsidiaries, which have  

been consolidated using the acquisition method.

 Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies of the Group.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special-purpose entities) from which the Group has exposure or rights to variable  
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing  
whether the Company controls another entity. 

Subsidiaries that form part of the Group are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company.  
They cease to be consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in profit or loss from the effective date  
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and  
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

b) Business combinations
  Under a business combination where entities under common control are amalgamated, the carrying values of the assets  

and liabilities of the entities are combined, with any net asset change on amalgamation recognised in equity.

Other accounting policies
All other accounting policies are included with the applicable note.

Changes in accounting policies
Accounting policies have been consistently applied.

2. Segmental reporting
For reporting to the Chief Executive and the Board of Directors, the Group is currently organised into two operating divisions:

i) Electricity – regulated electricity line distribution 

ii) Gas – regulated gas line distribution

All other unregulated revenues and costs are included in the unallocated segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Regulated businesses Unallocated 
segment

$000
Total
$000

Electricity 
$000

Gas 
$000

External revenue 379,248 52,026 35,441 466,715 

Pass-through and recoverable costs (119,866) (2,175) (2) (122,043)

Network operational expenditure (32,314) (5,472) (827) (38,613)

System operations and network support (9,267) (4,154) (368) (13,789)

Business support (31,944) (5,838) (309) (38,091)

Depreciation and amortisation and net loss  
on disposal of fixed assets (71,532) (14,144) (74) (85,750)

Segment result 114,325 20,243 33,861 168,429 

Finance costs (78,830)

Losses on financial instruments (6,099)

Profit before tax 83,500 

Income tax expense (24,990)

Net profit for the period 58,510 

Other information

Capital additions (155,639) (13,123) (2,072) (170,834)
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For the year ended 31 March 2016

Regulated businesses Unallocated 
segment

$000
Total
$000

Electricity 
$000

Gas 
$000

External revenue 374,926 51,855 30,459 457,240 

Pass-through and recoverable costs (113,129) (2,137) (5) (115,271)

Network operational expenditure (29,268) (5,343) (810) (35,421)

System operations and network support (10,784) (4,137) (39) (14,960)

Business support (29,313) (6,577) (2,425) (38,315)

Depreciation and amortisation and net loss  
on disposal of fixed assets (75,299) (14,863) (217) (90,379)

Segment result 117,133 18,798 26,963 162,894 

Finance costs (80,155)

Gains on financial instruments 1,844 

Profit before tax 84,583 

Income tax expense (20,143)

Net profit for the period 64,440 

Other information

Capital additions (131,736) (13,716) (1,767) (147,219)

Revenue in both the Electricity and Gas segments includes regulated line revenue. 

Revenue included in the unallocated segment category includes gas metering revenue, customer contributions, transmission 
revenue, third party damages and other miscellaneous revenue received.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segmental profit represents 
the profit earned by each segment without allocation of customer contributions, other revenue, other gains, finance costs and 
income tax expense.

Of the total segment revenues, $243.5 million (2016: $236.6 million) came from major customers. The table below outlines the  
major customers and the segments they have been recorded in.

Segment
2017
$000

2016
$000

Customer one Electricity/Gas 111,173 106,434 

Customer two Electricity/Gas 73,294 64,638 

Customer three Electricity/Gas 59,067 65,557 

243,534 236,629 

Policy
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed  
by the Chief Executive and the Board of Directors in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

Where revenue, expenses and capital additions cannot be split between the operating segments, they have been included  
within the unallocated segment.

3. Revenue and other income

2017
$000

2016
$000

Line revenue 306,782 310,238 

Pass-through and recoverable cost revenue 122,043 115,271 

Customer contributions 26,201 20,363 

Gas metering revenue 5,022 4,798 

Total Revenue 460,048 450,670 

Other income 6,667 6,570 

Total revenue and other income 466,715 457,240 

Policy
Line revenue, pass-through and recoverable cost revenue, customer contributions and gas metering revenue are recognised at 
the fair value of the sales of goods or services provided. Revenue is recorded net of Goods and Services Tax (GST), rebates and 
discounts. Pass-through and recoverable costs include transmission costs, statutory levies and utility rates.

Revenue from services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, based upon usage or volume 
throughput during that period.

The Group received contributions from customers towards the costs of reticulating new subdivisions, constructing uneconomic 
lines and relocating existing lines. The timing of the recognition of revenue arising from the transfer of property, plant and 
equipment depends on the separately identifiable services included in the agreement. The fair value received is allocated between 
the services, and the recognition criteria of NZ IAS 18 Revenue is then applied to each service individually. Where the revenue 
relates to the transfer of the asset, the revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards are transferred to the Group. When the 
revenue relates to the underlying contract obtained in the transfer, the revenue is recognised on a systematic basis over the life of 
the contract.

4. Finance costs

2017
$000

2016
$000

Interest on working capital 1,713 938 

Interest on senior debt and related derivatives 76,943 78,711 

Deferred funding costs and financial instrument fees 2,310 2,575 

Interest attributed to funding of capital projects (2,136) (2,069)

78,830 80,155 

Policy for interest attributed to funding of capital projects
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss component of the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period 
in which they are incurred.

Interest is attributed to projects expected to have costs exceeding $0.5 million, in which the construction period is expected to be 
greater than six months. Interest was calculated at 5.23% per annum (2016: 6.57%). 



38  Powerco Ltd Annual Report 2017 Powerco Ltd Annual Report 2017      39 Back to financial contents >

5. Gains on financial instruments

2017
$000

2016
$000

Movement of derivatives held at fair value through profit or loss (19,234) 49,275 

Foreign exchange movement on debt held at amortised cost 8,769 (54,828)

Amortisation of debt previously held at fair value (i) 5,043 8,076 

Amortisation of fair value movement on derivatives previously taken to reserves (ii) (677) (679)

Other (losses)/gains on financial instruments (6,099) 1,844 

The movement of derivatives held at fair value through profit or loss includes a gain of $10.2 million attributable to the change  
in the credit risk of the liabilities (2016: loss of $6.9 million).

De-designation of hedge accounting
In the financial year ended 31 March 2013, the Group made the decision to stop hedge accounting and de-designate its existing 
hedge relationships. This decision was made for the purpose of reducing complexity and aiding transparency. All movements 
of derivatives held at fair value and foreign exchange movements on debt are now recorded as other gains/losses on financial 
instruments in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Further information regarding the hedge reserve is provided in note 20.

There are two balances resulting from when the Group hedge accounted which are being amortised, as follows:

(i)  Debt balance resulting from the increase in the fair value of debt which is being amortised to profit or loss over its remaining 
life. At the end of the period there was a balance of $17.0 million remaining to be amortised over the next 11 years using the 
effective interest method in line with the debt settlement periods as disclosed in note 9 (2016: $22.0 million remaining to be 
amortised over 12 years).

(ii)   Hedge reserve which contained the fair value movement on derivatives taken to reserves. This is being amortised to profit 
or loss over the remaining lives of the underlying exposures. At the end of the period there was a balance of $3.6 million 
remaining to be amortised over the next 11 years (2016: $4.1 million to be amortised over 12 years).

6. Taxation

2017
$000

2016
$000

Tax expense comprises:

Deferred tax expense on temporary differences 24,915 20,102 

Adjustments recognised in current period in relation to the deferred tax of prior years 75 41 

Total tax expense 24,990 20,143 

The total charge for the period can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Profit before taxation 83,500 84,583

Tax at the New Zealand income tax rate of 28 per cent 23,380 23,683 

Tax effect of losses transferred from Powerco New Zealand Holdings Ltd (8,155) (11,044)

Tax effect of revenue items that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 9,690 7,463 

24,915 20,102 

Adjustments recognised in current period in relation to the deferred tax of prior years 75 41 

Total tax expense 24,990 20,143 

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Opening 
Balance 

$000

Charged to 
profit or loss 

$000

Charged to other 
comprehensive 

income
$000

Closing 
Balance

$000

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 226,751 16,540 - 243,291 

Derivatives 9,134 (813) 190 8,511 

Borrowings (21,722) 7,987 - (13,735)

Other 3,796 1,276 - 5,072 

217,959 24,990 190 243,139 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

Opening 
Balance 

$000

Charged to 
profit or loss 

$000

Charged to other 
comprehensive 

income 
$000

Closing 
Balance

$000

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 215,868 10,883 - 226,751 

Derivatives (7,102) 16,046 190 9,134 

Borrowings (13,925) (7,797) - (21,722)

Other 2,785 1,011 - 3,796 

197,626 20,143 190 217,959 

Policy
The amount recognised for current tax is based on the net profit for the period as adjusted for non-assessable and non-deductible 
items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax base of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Statement of Financial Position.

The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect  
neither accounting nor taxable profit; and the temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries where the Group  
is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse  
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which  
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the  
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or benefit in the profit or loss component of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items credited or debited in other comprehensive income or directly in  
equity. In this case, the deferred tax or current tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  
Where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill.
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7. Property, plant and equipment

Network  
systems 

$000

Work in  
progress 

$000

Land and  
buildings

$000

Plant and  
equipment

$000
Total
$000

At 31 March 2015

Cost 2,617,620 53,099 15,236 33,718 2,719,673 

Accumulated depreciation (763,462)  - (4,814) (30,977) (799,253)

Net book value 1,854,158 53,099 10,422 2,741 1,920,420 

Movements in the year ended 
31 March 2016

Opening net book value 1,854,158 53,099 10,422 2,741 1,920,420 

Additions 54 139,560 545 2,708 142,867 

Transfers 144,762 (149,430) 310 4,358  - 

Disposals (13,641)  -  - (2) (13,643)

Depreciation expense (69,690)  - (542) (1,662) (71,894)

Closing net book value 1,915,643 43,229 10,735 8,143 1,977,750 

At 31 March 2016

Cost 2,735,659 43,229 16,091 40,780 2,835,759 

Accumulated depreciation (820,016)  - (5,356) (32,637) (858,009)

Net book value 1,915,643 43,229 10,735 8,143 1,977,750 

Movements in the year ended 
31 March 2017

Opening net book value 1,915,643 43,229 10,735 8,143 1,977,750 

Additions 94 165,404 7 1,744 167,249 

Transfers 127,982 (131,241) 69 3,190  - 

Disposals (9,415)  - (12) (3) (9,430)

Depreciation expense (69,147)  - (512) (1,578) (71,237)

Closing net book value 1,965,157 77,392 10,287 11,496 2,064,332 

At 31 March 2017

Cost 2,840,688 77,392 16,121 45,004 2,979,205 

Accumulated depreciation (875,531)  - (5,834) (33,508) (914,873)

Net book value 1,965,157 77,392 10,287 11,496 2,064,332 

Note 4 finance costs provides details of borrowing costs capitalised during the period.

Policy

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost in the Statement of Financial Position. Cost includes the 
value of consideration exchanged and those costs directly attributable to bringing the item to working condition for its intended 
use.

Work in progress is carried at cost in the Statement of Financial Position and is not depreciated. A transfer out of work in progress 
to the relevant asset class takes place when an asset is commissioned or is ready for its intended use.

With the exception of a small number of non-network assets that are calculated using diminishing value, depreciation is calculated 
on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the assets (other than land) over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any change in estimate 
accounted for from the start of the period.

Depreciation rates based on remaining useful life, for major classes of asset are:

  

Land Not depreciated

Buildings 4 to 50 years

Plant and equipment 3 to 28 years

Network systems 8 to 70 years

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference  
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss component of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Classification of expenditure in relation to property, plant and equipment and software intangibles
On initial recognition of items of property, plant and equipment and software intangibles, judgement must be made about whether 
costs incurred bring the item to working condition for their intended use and therefore should be capitalised as part of the cost 
of the item, or whether they should be expensed. Judgement is applied to assess the amount of overhead costs which can be 
reasonably directly attributed to the construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment and software intangibles.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that 
are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. A cash-generating unit is the smallest group of assets for which there are separately identified cash flows.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time-value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in the profit or loss component of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss component of the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase.
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8.  Intangible assets

Software 
$000

Easements
$000

Total
$000

At 31 March 2015

Cost 36,496 4,449 40,945 

Accumulated depreciation (23,694) - (23,694)

Net book value 12,802 4,449 17,251 

Movements in the year ended 31 March 2016

Opening net book value 12,802 4,449 17,251 

Additions 4,860 (508) 4,352 

Amortisation expense (5,004) - (5,004)

Closing net book value 12,658 3,941 16,599 

At 31 March 2016

Cost 41,356 3,941 45,297 

Accumulated depreciation (28,698) - (28,698)

Net book value 12,658 3,941 16,599 

Movements in the year ended 31 March 2017

Opening net book value 12,658 3,941 16,599 

Additions 3,473 112 3,585 

Amortisation expense (5,213)  - (5,213)

Closing net book value 10,918 4,053 14,971 

At 31 March 2017

Cost 44,829 4,053 48,882 

Accumulated depreciation (33,911)  - (33,911)

Net book value 10,918 4,053 14,971 

Policy
Intangible assets comprise computer software and easements. Computer software has finite lives while easements have  
an indefinite life. Easements are deemed to have an indefinite life as the right to access the land for the purpose of installation  
and maintenance of network assets does not have a maturity date and can not be traded.

Intangible assets acquired separately (purchased) are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged on a diminishing value basis over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives,  
residual value and amortisation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes  
in estimates being accounted for from the start of the period.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they  
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. 

The cost of such intangible assets is the fair value at the acquisition date.

Amortisation of intangibles is calculated on a diminishing value basis for computer software over their useful lives. 

Amortisation rates based on remaining useful life for computer software is 4 to 55 years. Easements are not amortised.

The policy regarding impairment of intangible assets is included in note 7.

9. Borrowings 
As at 31 March 2017

Face value 
$000

Fair value 
adjustment 

$000

Deferred  
funding costs

$000

Accrued  
interest

$000
Total
$000

Current and non-current  
liabilities at amortised cost

Guaranteed bonds (a) 50,000 - (59) 37 49,978 

Wholesale bonds (b) 450,000 - (859) 2,756 451,897 

US dollar private placement notes (c) 438,760 77,811 (1,551) 3,083 518,103 

NZ dollar private placement notes (d) 135,000 - (650) 1,764 136,114 

Bank debt (e) 165,600 - (229) 611 165,982 

1,239,360 77,811 (3,348) 8,251 1,322,074 

Current portion 50,000 - (59) 8,251 58,192 

Non-current portion 1,189,360 77,811 (3,289) - 1,263,882 

1,239,360 77,811 (3,348) 8,251 1,322,074 

As at 31 March 2016 

Face value 
$000

Fair value 
adjustment 

$000

Deferred  
funding costs

$000

Accrued  
interest

$000
Total
$000

Current and non-current  
liabilities at amortised cost

Guaranteed bonds (a) 50,000 - (177) 37 49,860 

Wholesale bonds (b) 250,000 - (529) 1,296 250,767 

US dollar private placement notes (c) 548,059 74,614 (1,829) 3,911 624,754 

NZ dollar private placement notes (d) 135,000 - (714) 1,789 136,075 

Bank debt (e) 205,300 - (69) 1,078 206,308 

1,188,359 74,614 (3,318) 8,109 1,267,763 

Current portion 154,599 (13,304) (50) 8,109 149,354 

Non-current portion 1,033,760 87,918 (3,268) - 1,118,409 

1,188,359 74,614 (3,318) 8,109 1,267,763 

The fair value adjustment includes:

–  Debt balance resulting from the increase in the fair value of debt which is being amortised to profit or loss over its remaining 
life. Refer to note 5(i) for further details.

– Valuation of debt as a result of movements in the NZD/USD exchange rate.

The information on the following page provides details of the borrowings listed in the tables above.
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Amount  
$000 Issue date Interest rate Maturity Risk mitigated by:

(a) Guaranteed bonds

 12 year bonds  50,000 Sep 2005 6.74% fixed Sep 2017 Fixed rate

(b)  Wholesale bonds

 7 year fixed rate bonds  65,000 Dec 2011 6.31% fixed Dec 2018 Fixed rate

 7 year floating rate bonds  35,000 Dec 2011 90 day bank bill 
rate plus a margin

Dec 2018 Interest rate swaps

 7 year fixed rate bonds  150,000 Sep 2015 4.76% fixed Sep 2022 Fixed rate

 3.5 year floating rate bonds  100,000 Aug 2016 90 day bank bill 
rate plus a margin

Feb 2020 Interest rate swaps

 7 year fixed rate bonds  100,000 Nov 2016 4.67% fixed Nov 2024 Fixed rate

(c)  US dollar private placement notes

 9 year notes – 2011 issue  91,371 Jun 2011 4.36% fixed Jun 2020 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

 12 year notes – 2011 issue  114,213 Jun 2011 4.56% fixed Jun 2023 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

 15 year notes – 2011 issue  105,330 Jun 2011 4.86% fixed Jun 2026 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

 12 year notes – 2013 issue  30,440 Jan 2013 3.40% fixed Jan 2025 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

 15 year notes – 2013 issue  97,407 Jan 2013 3.60% fixed Jan 2028 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

(d)  NZ dollar private placement notes

  12.5 year notes – 2014 issue 135,000 Oct 2014 6.62% fixed Apr 2027 Fixed rate

The comparative period included all of the borrowings listed in (a) to (d) above, with the addition of the following borrowings that 
matured during the period:

(c) 13 year notes – 2003 issue  109,299 Nov 2003 5.67% fixed Nov 2016 US cross currency  
& interest rate swaps

Excluded from the comparative borrowings were the $100 million wholesale bonds issued during this financial period.

(e) Bank debt

2017 Floating  
interest rate

Facility amount 
$000

Amount drawn 
$000 Issue date Maturity Risk mitigated by:

Revolving cash facility 1 – Tranche A n/a  15,000  -  Apr 2012  Apr 2017 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 2 2.74%  75,000  75,000  Mar 2015  Mar 2019 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 3 2.79%  25,000  25,000  Mar 2015  Mar 2019 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 4 2.79%  50,000  25,000  Mar 2017  Mar 2021 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 5 n/a  50,000  -  Mar 2017  Mar 2021 Interest rate swaps

Working capital facility 2.59%  50,000  40,600  Mar 2017  Mar 2019 Interest rate swaps

In addition, Powerco has a revolving cash facility for $75 million that was issued in March 2015. As at 31 March 2017, no funds 
were drawn down against this facility.

2016 Floating  
interest rate

Facility amount 
$000

Amount drawn 
$000 Issue date Maturity Risk mitigated by:

Revolving cash facility 1 – Tranche A 2.58%  100,000  60,000  Apr 2012  Apr 2017 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 2 2.65%  75,000  75,000  Mar 2015  Mar 2019 Interest rate swaps

Revolving cash facility 3 2.63%  25,000  25,000  Mar 2015  Mar 2019 Interest rate swaps

Working capital facility 2.25%  50,000  45,300  Mar 2014  Mar 2017 Interest rate swaps

In addition, Powerco had a revolving cash facility for $75 million that was issued in March 2015. As at 31 March 2016,  
no funds were drawn down against this facility.

The Group operates a $2 million overdraft facility. As at 31 March 2017, there were no drawings against this facility  
(2016: no drawings).

The guaranteed bonds, wholesale bonds, US dollar private placement notes, revolving cash facilities and working capital  
facility are all secured against the assets of the Company through the Security Trust Deed. 

The scheduled payments of guaranteed bonds and related interest are guaranteed on an unsecured basis by US-based Syncora 
Guarantee Inc. (Syncora), a specialist financial guaranty organisation. Under a trust document relating to the guaranteed bonds, 
the Company has covenanted to ensure that, if Syncora defaults on its obligations under the financial guaranty, the Company  
will procure a sufficient number of its subsidiaries to guarantee its obligations under the guaranteed bonds by signing a subsidiary 
guarantee so that at all times the total tangible assets of the Company and all guaranteeing subsidiaries exceeds 85% of the total 
tangible assets of the Group. As at balance date, no default by Syncora had occurred.

Covenants
The Company has covenanted with all counterparties to ensure certain financial criteria are met throughout the term of the debt 
agreements. These covenants include minimum interest coverage ratios, minimum net worth and maximum gearing or leverage 
ratios. Covenants also include various comparisons of the Guaranteeing Group earnings and assets under the Security Trust  
Deed to earnings and assets of the Group. There have been no breaches. 

Policy
All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, less issue costs associated with the 
borrowing. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and borrowings are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest  
rate method, which allocates the cost through the expected life of the borrowing. Borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised in accordance with the policy in note 4.

Payments of US dollar private placement note interest is made in US dollars and is exactly offset by the proceeds of cross-
currency swaps. As a result, the accounting treatment is not affected by movements in exchange rates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability  
for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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10. Other financial assets and liabilities

 The Company enters into various financial instruments to either eliminate or manage its exposures to foreign currencies and 
interest rate movements. Cross Currency Interest Rate Swap Agreements are used to economically convert exposures to US 
dollar borrowings and US interest rates to NZD borrowings and NZ interest rates. Interest rate swaps are used to economically 
convert our exposure to floating interest rates to fixed rates. Other financial instruments may be used from time to time to reduce 
risk.

Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the contract date and subsequently measured at their fair 
value on each reporting date. Derivative instruments are undertaken as economic hedges of exposures, but are not hedge 
accounted. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognised in the profit or loss component of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

The fair value of financial derivatives and fixed rate debt is determined based on current market information from independent 
valuation sources. Refer to note 11(g) for further information.

The fair value of derivatives is disclosed in the financial statements as follows:

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Other current financial assets

Interest rate swaps - -

Foreign exchange contracts 6 -

6 -

Other non-current financial assets

US cross currency interest rate swap 74,292 102,703 

Interest rate swaps 19,942 29,153 

94,234 131,856 

Other current financial liabilities

US cross currency interest rate swap - (12,879)

Interest rate swaps (1,448) (4,203)

Foreign exchange contracts (3) -

(1,451) (17,081)

Other non-current financial liabilities

US cross currency interest rate swap - -

Interest rate swaps (62,395) (82,156)

(62,395) (82,156)

Fair value of assets and liabilities 30,394 32,619 

Powerco enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreements 
and Schedules. The various asset and liability valuation positions of these instruments are not offset against each other in the 
Statement of Financial Position. In the event of an early termination of the ISDA agreements, these assets and liabilities are able 
to be offset. Refer to the table above for the asset and liability of these instruments.

The Group holds the following instruments:

Notional principal Fair value
Movement of derivatives held at  
fair value through profit or loss

As at 2017 
$000 

As at 2016  
$000 

As at 2017  
$000 

As at 2016  
$000 

For the  
period ended 

Mar 2017 
$000 

For the  
period ended 

Mar 2016 
$000 

1 – US cross currency swaps 438,760 548,059 74,292 89,824 (32,541) 61,252 

2 – Interest rate swaps (pay floating) 385,000 285,000 16,402 29,153 (12,751) 13,777 

3 – Interest rate swaps (pay fixed) 1,460,000 1,375,000 (60,303) (86,358) 26,055 (25,785)

4 – Foreign exchange contracts 1,490 - 3 - 3 30 

2,285,250 2,208,059 30,394 32,619 (19,234) 49,274 

Policy

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
where the terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, 
which are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment. 

Other financial assets are classified into one of four categories: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; held to maturity 
investments; available for sale financial assets; or loans and receivables. At balance date, the Group had the following classes of 
financial assets:

i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
  Other financial assets relate to derivatives held at period end. All derivative assets are measured at fair value through profit  

or loss and are classified as held for trading. 

ii) Loans and receivables
  Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and bank accounts are initially measured at 

fair value, net of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less impairment. Trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment 
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for trade receivables includes the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments past the average credit period of 30 days, as well as observable 
changes in national, local or industry economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

Impairment
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group 
derecognises financial liabilities when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. Financial liabilities are classified 
as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
All derivative liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables, borrowings and inter-company accounts/loans are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised 
on an effective interest basis.
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11. Financial instruments
a) Capital risk management
  The Group manages its levels of debt and equity to ensure an efficient capital structure while maintaining certain internal 

financial ratios. The Group’s Treasury Policy specifies target gearing for total debt to equity. This is managed both by 
reviewing debt levels and altering distributions, the later influencing the balance of equity. The Group also complies with 
financial covenants agreed with lenders as part of financing arrangements as set out in note 9.

b) Risk management
  The Group manages risks in accordance with policies approved by the Board of Directors. Compliance with these policies is 

monitored by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. The Treasury Policy determines how risk management is undertaken.

 The financial instruments that the Company holds exposes it to the following risks:

 (1) Market risk

 (2)  Credit risk

 (3)  Liquidity risk

 (1)  Market risk

 (i)  Currency risk
   Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument or transaction will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates in New Zealand and has foreign exchange 
exposures arising from US dollar denominated debt and the purchase of items of property, plant and equipment in 
foreign currencies.

   This exposes the Group to potential gains and losses arising from currency movements. The policy relating to US dollar 
denominated debt is to eliminate the exchange rate exposure by use of matching cross currency and interest rate 
contracts taken out at the time the loans are drawn down and by entering forward exchange contracts when items  
of property, plant and equipment are ordered. Refer to notes 11(d) and 11(e) for further information.

 (ii)  Interest rate exposures
   Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

market interest rates, thereby changing the cost of borrowing or the return on cash and cash equivalents.

   The Group’s short-term borrowings are on a floating interest rate basis. The Group has entered into interest rate swaps 
to reduce the impact on its borrowings of changes in interest rates. These derivatives are entered into in accordance 
with the Treasury Policy Hedging activities are monitored and evaluated regularly to ensure that the most cost-effective 
economic hedging policy is being applied.

   Cash and cash equivalents are held at floating interest rates. The Group does not enter into derivatives in relation to 
these balances. Refer to notes 11(c) and 11(e) for further information.

 (2)  Credit risk
   Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial asset will default on its obligations and consequently cause 

loss to the Group. The financial assets that expose the Group to credit risk are bank balances and accounts receivable. 
The maximum credit risk is the carrying value of each of these assets. There are concentrations of credit risk in regards 
to retailers. 

  Credit risk is managed in the following ways:

	 	 •	 	Accounts	receivable	–	the	Group	undertakes	credit	checks	for	all	those	seeking	credit	and	will	only	provide	 
credit to those with an acceptable credit rating. Each credit customer has a credit limit and compliance with limits 
is monitored on a regular basis. In addition, compliance with payment terms is monitored on a regular basis and 
debtors in arrears are subject to collection action. Retailer credit risk is mitigated by the use of prudentials and 
ensuring retailers meet our credit rating standard. 

	 	 •	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	–	cash	deposits	are	only	made	with	registered	banks.

 3)  Liquidity risk
   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. This risk 

is managed by maintaining sufficient cash and deposits, together with access to committed credit facilities, and 
forecasting and monitoring liquidity levels on a continuous basis. The Group adheres to a Treasury Policy, which 
specifies the levels of liquidity that must be maintained to meet short term requirements and further stipulates 
timeframes for refinancing maturing debt. Note 9 provides details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group  
has at its disposal to reduce liquidity risk. Refer to note 11(f) for further information.

c) Interest rate swap contracts
  Under interest rate swap contracts, the Company agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest 

amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Company to mitigate the risk of changing 
interest rates on debt held. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the yield 
curve at the reporting date. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the financial year. The 
interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis, with the Company paying or receiving the difference between fixed and floating 
interest rate.

d) Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
  The Company’s foreign currency borrowings are 100% economically hedged against movements in the NZD/USD exchange 

rate. Any movements in the value of borrowings, or the interest payable due to a movement in the exchange rate, is offset by 
an equal and opposite movement in the value and cash flows applicable to the hedge. The Company holds a small number 
of forward exchange contracts to hedge capital expenditure purchases in currencies other than New Zealand dollars. 

e) Interest rate and foreign currency sensitivity analysis
  The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 100 basis point increase and decrease in the New Zealand interest 

rates across the entire curve, with all other variables held constant as at the reporting date. The rate of 100 basis points 
is Powerco’s and the industry-accepted sensitivity rate used for analysing volatility through interest rate movements, and 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. This analysis includes cash flows on floating 
debt, and the cash flows on floating debt, and the cash flows and valuation movements on interest rate derivatives.

 The table below details the sensitivity to changes in the exchange rate and interest rate:

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis Interest rate sensitivity analysis

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Net profit before tax +100 basis points (953) (1,574) 5,314 11,720 

Net profit before tax -100 basis points 980 1,620 (4,239) (11,076)

Total equity +100 basis points (953) (1,574) 5,314 11,720 

Total equity -100 basis points 980 1,620 (4,239) (11,076)

f)  Liquidity profile of financial instruments
  These tables are based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial instruments, including interest payments and 

the future contractual settlements for derivatives. For non-derivative floating rate liabilities and the floating rate portion of 
derviative instruments, the forecast cash flow is based on the floating rate applicable at the end of the reporting period.

2017 Less than  
1 year

1 - 2  
years

3 - 5  
years

Over 5  
years

Total contractual
cash flows

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 45,069 - - - 45,069 

Current secured borrowings 51,685 - - - 51,685 

Non-current secured borrowings 55,807 442,181 206,097 911,537 1,615,622 

152,561 442,181 206,097 911,537 1,712,376 

Derivative (assets)/liabilities

Net settled interest rate swaps 22,245 35,759 (7,859) (27,777) 22,368 

Gross settled cross currency  
interest rate swaps:

– (inflow) (21,420) (42,840) (138,888) (459,803) (662,951)

– outflow 17,553 35,112 120,175 399,121 571,961 

Gross settled foreign exchange 
contracts:

– (inflow) (1,490) - - - (1,490)

– outflow 1,490 - - - 1,490 

Net value of derivative transactions 18,378 28,031 (26,572) (88,459) (68,622)
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2016 Less than  
1 year 1 - 2 years 3 - 5 years Over 5 years

Total contractual
cash flows

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 40,965 - - - 40,965 

Current secured borrowings 146,164 - - - 146,164 

Non-current secured borrowings 52,244 404,697 177,528 837,208 1,471,677 

239,374 404,697 177,528 837,208 1,658,806 

Derivative (assets)/liabilities

Net settled interest rate swaps 22,165 40,522 4,572 (27,097) 40,163 

Gross settled cross currency  
interest rate swaps:

– (inflow) (121,128) (43,439) (145,375) (483,408) (793,350)

– outflow 131,161 38,096 126,530 418,559 714,346 

Gross settled foreign  
exchange contracts:

– (inflow) - - - - -

– outflow - - - - -

Net value of derivative transactions 32,198 35,179 (14,273) (91,946) (38,841)

g)  Fair values
  Carrying value approximates fair value for the following assets and liabilities:

Cash and cash equivalents Trade and other receivables

Other current assets Other current liabilities

Trade and other payables Commercial bank debt and working capital advances

Finance lease receivable  

Derivatives are the only items carried at fair value. Refer to note 10 for further information. 

  For the following liabilities, fair value does not equate to carrying value:

2017 
Carrying  
amount  

$000

2017  
Fair  

value  
$000

2016  
Carrying  
amount  

$000

2016 
Fair  

value  
$000

Financial liabilities

Guaranteed bonds 49,978 50,934 49,860 52,264 

Wholesale bonds 451,897 454,175 250,767 260,136 

US dollar private placement notes 518,103 501,165 624,754 602,715 

NZD private placement notes 136,114 153,505 136,075 159,475 

1,156,092 1,159,779 1,061,456 1,074,590 

 The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

 – For floating rate debt, carrying value approximates fair value due to continuing interest rate reset.

 –  The fair value of financial derivatives and fixed rate debt are determined by reference to the market quoted rates  
input into discounted cash flow valuation models.

  The valuation method takes into account the interest rate curve and foreign exchange rates by calculating the discounted 
future cash flows on derivatives and debt at the reporting date. The risk of non-performance by each party is also taken  
into account. 

 The following market interest rates and currency rates were used for valuation purposes:

NZ Swap rates 
2017 

NZ Swap rates 
2016 

US Swap rates 
2017 

US Swap rates 
2016 

Reporting date rates

1 year swap rate 2.08% 2.19% 1.39% 0.74%

2 year swap rate 2.32% 2.20% 1.62% 0.84%

3 year swap rate 2.56% 2.27% 1.81% 0.95%

4 year swap rate 2.76% 2.38% 1.95% 1.06%

5 year swap rate 2.93% 2.50% 2.05% 1.17%

7 year swap rate 3.20% 2.72% 2.22% 1.39%

10 year swap rate 3.45% 2.98% 2.38% 1.64%

15 year swap rate 3.77% 3.31% 2.54% 1.90%

2017 2016 

NZD/USD rate 0.70060 0.69094

 The above rates have been sourced from Bloomberg.

 Fair value measurements recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
  All financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value on a recurring basis can be  

grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

 1)   Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical  
assets or liabilities.

 2)   Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that  
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices).

 3)   Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or  
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

  NZD interest rate swap contracts, foreign exchange contracts, USD cross currency interest rate swaps, guaranteed bonds, 
wholesale bonds, US dollar private placement notes and NZ dollar private placement notes are all categorised as Level 2.

 Policy

 Derivative financial instruments
  Financial derivatives are initially recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value on the date a derivative 

contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at their fair value on each reporting date. When derivative  
contracts are are entered into, the Group determines whether it wishes to hedge account or not. If it does not it  
manages them as either:

  – Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities (fair value hedge); or

  –  Hedges of forecast transactions or firm commitments (cash flow hedge) which hedge exposures to variability  
in cash flows; or

  – Other derivative financial instruments not meeting hedge accounting criteria.

  The fair values of financial derivatives are determined by using market-quoted rates as inputs into valuation models for 
interest and currency swaps, forwards and options. The risk of non-performance as an input is also required. Changes  
in fair value of derivatives are recognised:

  –  For fair value hedges, the movements are recorded in the profit or loss component of the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income alongside any changes in the fair value of the hedged items; and

  –  All other movements in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recorded in the profit or loss component  
of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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12. Trade and other receivables

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Trade receivables 36,811 35,354 

Impairment allowance (300) (300)

Prepayments 1,992 1,636 

Trade and other receivables 38,503 36,690 

Debtor ageing

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Current 35,094 33,380 

Past due 0 to 30 days 111 135 

Past due 31 to 120 days 192 515 

121+ days 1,414 1,324 

36,811 35,354 

The average credit or settlement terms are generally up to 30 days depending on the specific contract terms. These terms and 
other provisions, including recovery of overdue amounts, are stated in the retailer contract and are specified on tax invoices for 
non-retailer debtors. Retailer contracts provide for an interest rate in the event of payment default of 5% over the bank base rate.

At period end there were no overdue accounts being charged interest. Overdue accounts relate to third party damages and 
customer initiated contract work, for which no collateral is held.

The Group enters contractual arrangements with credit-worthy retailers, and conducts active credit evaluations on these retailers 
to minimise credit risk.

A review of the debtors’ aged trial balance, primarily third party damages, occurs monthly to ensure no debtor is impaired and that 
the impairment allowance is sufficient. There was no change to the impairment allowance during the period.

Policy
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade receivables and other 
accounts receivable are recorded at amortised cost. As trade and other receivables are usually received within 30 days, they are 
carried at face value.The impairment allowance on receivables is assessed on a portfolio basis, based on historical delinquency 
rates and losses. Bad debts are written off when identified.

13. Trade and other payables

2017 
$000

2016
$000

Trade payables and accruals 44,964 40,849 

GST payable 105 116 

45,069 40,965 

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. On average,  
the creditors are paid on the 20th of the following month, unless a different term of credit is specified on the invoice.

Policy
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting 
from the purchase of goods and services. These are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade 
payables and other accounts payable are recorded at amortised cost. As trade and other payables are usually paid within  
30 days, they are carried at face value.

14. Finance lease receivable

Minimum future  
lease payments 

Present value of minimum future  
lease payments

2017  
$000

2016 
$000

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Amount receivable under finance lease

Not later than one year 1,433 1,413 503 465 

Later than one year and not later than five years 5,904 5,839 2,468 2,279 

Later than five years 9,902 11,400 6,036 6,729 

Minimum future lease payments 17,239 18,652 9,007 9,473 

Unguaranteed residual value - - - - 

Gross finance lease receivable 17,239 18,652 9,007 9,473 

Less unearned finance income (8,232) (9,179)

9,007 9,473 9,007 9,473 

Classified as:

Current 503 465 

Non-current 8,504 9,008 

9,007 9,473 

Powerco Transmission Services Ltd entered into a lease with NZ Windfarms Ltd. The term of the lease is 20 years, with an expiry 
in 2028. The interest rate inherent in the lease is fixed at the contract date for the entire lease term. The effective interest rate on 
the finance lease receivable is 10.15% per annum.

Policy
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant  
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

15. Operating leases

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the period 2,018 1,892 

Operating lease obligations payable after balance date on non-cancellable 
leases are as follows:

Within one year 1,229 1,480 

One to five years 1,683 2,334 

More than five years 388 437 

3,300 4,251 

Operating lease payments represent amounts payable by the Group for certain office property leases, substation and radio 
communication licences and vehicle leases. Property leases are negotiated for terms of one to five years, with rights of renewal 
on most leases. Substation and radio communication licence terms range from one to 33 years, with rights of renewal on most 
licences. Vehicle leases are for a term of three years.

Policy
Leases that do not meet the criteria of a finance lease are classified as operating leases.  
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16. Employee benefits

2017 
$000

2016 
$000

Current portion 4,723 4,961 

Non-current portion 1,892 1,818 

6,615 6,779 

The provision for employee benefits includes accrued wages, bonuses, redundancy, accrued holiday pay and long service leave. 
The provision is affected by a number of estimates, including the expected employment period of employees, the future earnings 
of the employees and the timing of employees utilising the benefits. The majority of the provision is expected to be realised within 
the next two years.

Employee benefit expenses of $36.8 million were incurred during the period (2016: $35.8 million). Employer contributions to 
defined contribution schemes of $1.2 million were incurred during the period (2016: $1.1 million).

Policy
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long-service leave  
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at their nominal values 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits that are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees  
up to reporting date.

17. Auditor remuneration

2017 
$000

2016
$000

Amounts paid or payable to the auditor for:

Audit of financial statements   

 Audit of financial statements 195 195 

 Review of interim financial statements 35 35 

Other assurance services

Regulatory audit services 279 112 

Regulatory audit services 31 - 

Trustee reporting 5 5 

545 347 

Regulatory audit services consists of the audit of regulatory disclosure statements, compliance statements and Customised  
Price-Quality Path application.

18. Related parties
Related party transactions

2017
$000

2016 
$000

Transactions between Powerco Ltd and PNZHL

– Dividends paid to PNZHL 58,523 58,708 

–  Tax losses made available to the Group from PNZHL 29,124 41,048 

PNZHL transfers tax losses to the Powerco Group for nil consideration either via a loss offset or through the use of a consolidated 
tax group.  Powerco Ltd performs the accounting function of PNZHL for nil consideration.

Compensation of key management personnel

2017
$000

2016
$000

Short-term benefits 4,271 3,892 

Long-term benefits 381 249 

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee, having 
regard to the performance of the Company, individuals and market trends.

19. Share capital
Total number of ordinary shares authorised, issued and fully paid at 31 March 2017 is 369,929,053. There has been no movement 
in the number of shares in the period.

Each ordinary share in the Company confers on the holder:

(a) The right to one vote on a poll at a meeting of the Company on any resolution;

(b) The right to an equal share in the distributions approved by the Board of Directors; and

(c) The right to an equal share in distribution of the surplus assets of the Company.

The shares have no par value.

Policy
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction 
from the proceeds.

20. Reserves
The hedge reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges. The cumulative 
deferred gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in the profit or loss component of the Statement of Comprehensive Income when 
the hedged transaction impacts profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent 
with the applicable accounting policy. As at 31 March 2017, no swaps were effective cash flow hedges as the Group discontinued 
hedge accounting in 2013. The remaining hedge reserve balance is being amortised based on the maturity dates of the previously 
effective cash flow hedges, the last of which will mature in January 2028. For further information refer to note 5.
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21. Contingent liabilities and commitments
Contingent assets and liabilities
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had no contingent assets or liabilities (31 March 2016: nil).

Commitments

2017 
$000

2016
$000

Commitments for future capital expenditure resulting from contracts entered into 1,654 4,842 

Commitments for future operational expenditure resulting from contracts entered into 6,738 10,282 

Commitments resulting from Electricity Field Service Agreement (EFSA) contract entered into 90,000 130,000 

98,392 145,124 

The Group and Downer Utilities Alliance New Zealand Ltd have entered into EFSA for capital and operational service for both the 
Eastern and Western regions. There is a separate EFSA for each region with a service commencement date of 30 June 2014 and 
an end date of 30 June 2019. The targeted annual expenditure is $20 million per year for each agreement ($40 million in total).

22. New and revised standards and interpretations
The following are the significant new or revised Standards or Interpretations in issue that are not yet required to be adopted by 
entities preparing financial statements for periods ending on 31 March 2017. Management has reviewed NZ IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and has determined that this is unlikely to have a material effect on the results and position of the Group. Management 
has not yet assessed the impact of the other standards.

Standard/Interpretation Effective for 
annual reporting 

periods beginning  
on or after

Expected to be  
initially applied  
in the financial  

year ending

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 31 March 2019

NZ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 31 March 2019

NZ IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 31 March 2020

Adoption of new and revised Standards and Interpretations
Management has reviewed the Standards and Interpretations that became mandatory in the current year and has determined  
that there is no material effect on the results and position of the Group.

23  Subsequent events
There have been no significant subsequent events since 31 March 2017 requiring adjustment to these financial statements  
and disclosures.

To the Shareholders of Powerco Limited

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Powerco Limited and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’ or 
‘Powerco’), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements, on pages 29 to 56, present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 March 2017, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with New Zealand Equivalents  
to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘NZ IFRS’) 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (‘ISAs’) and International Standards 
on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of 
Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New 
Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

Other than in our capacity as auditor and the provision of 
other assurance services including the audit of regulatory 
disclosure statements and trustee reporting, we have 

no relationship with or interests in the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries. These services have not impaired our 
independence as auditor of the Company and Group.

Context for our audit
Powerco has securities listed on the NZX Debt Market and 
its primary business activity is the operation of regulated 
electricity and gas distribution assets throughout the North 
Island of New Zealand.

As a result, key focus areas for Powerco are investment in 
maintaining and developing the distribution networks within 
the regulatory framework established by the Commerce 
Commission.

Audit materiality
We consider materiality primarily in terms of the magnitude 
of misstatement in the financial statements of the Group 
that in our judgement would make it probable that 
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
person would be changed or influenced (the ‘quantitative’ 
materiality). In addition, we also assess whether other 
matters that come to our attention during the audit would 
in our judgement change or influence the decisions of such 
a person (the ‘qualitative’ materiality). We use materiality 
both in planning the scope of our audit work and in 
evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined the 
quantitative materiality for our audit of the Group’s financial 
statements as a whole to be $7.6 million.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter and results

Classification of expenditure between operating expenditure 
and capital expenditure
Powerco carry out a large number of individual network system  
projects that can be either operational (network maintenance)  
or capital (asset replacement or network growth) in nature.
As described in note 1 and note 7 professional judgement must  
be exercised about whether costs incurred in bringing assets to 
working condition for their intended use should be capitalised as 
part of the cost of the asset, or whether they should be expensed  
as network maintenance. In the current year, total capital 
expenditures were $167.249 million compared to System operations 
and network support expenditure incurred of $38.6 million.
Powerco’s business operations are regulated and are subject  
to maximum allowable revenue limits set by the Commerce 
Commission. These revenue limits are, in part, determined  
by the value of Powerco’s regulatory asset base.
Therefore, we have included the classification of expenditure 
between operating and capital as a key audit matter due to the level 
of judgement involved, extent of costs incurred, and importance  
of the regulatory asset base to future revenue determination.

 

We assessed Powerco’s capitalisation policy for compliance with  
NZ IFRS and IFRS.
We tested the design and implementation of controls over  
the application of the policy to expenditure incurred on network  
system projects.
We used analytic software to analyse all operating and capital 
expenditure transactions. We used this software to identify 
expenditure trends throughout the year on a network and  
regional basis and compared these to historical trends.
We also compared Powerco’s average operating and capital 
expenditure ratios against industry averages taking into  
consideration our understanding of Powerco and its operations.
Using this analysis we were able to focus our testing procedures  
on those areas or periods which were not consistent with the  
trends in the wider population to focus our testing.
We tested a sample of costs to invoice or other supporting 
information to determine whether the expenditure was capital  
in nature.
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Other information
The directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for  
the other information. The other information comprises  
the information in the Annual Report that accompanies  
the consolidated financial statements and the audit report. 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express  
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information  
and consider whether it is materially inconsistent with  
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge  
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If so, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated 
financial statements
The directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for 
the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS and IFRS, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible on behalf of the Group for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs and ISAs (NZ) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements is located on the 
External Reporting Board’s website at: 

https://www.xrb.govt.nz/Site/Auditing_Assurance_
Standards/Current_Standards/Page1.aspx

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Restriction on use
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, 
as a body. Our audit has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Trevor Deed, Partner for Deloitte Limited 
Wellington, New Zealand  |  25 May 2017

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter and results

Asset lives and depreciation
Powerco’s asset base, as noted above, is also impacted by 
depreciation, which requires Powerco to exercise judgement  
in determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, 
and in particular the network system asset components as  
described in Note 1.
Depreciation totalled $71.237 million for the year ended  
31 March 2017, as disclosed in note 7.
The significant value and geographic spread of Powerco’s  
network system assets means that a small change in the  
useful life estimates could have a material impact on  
depreciation expense recorded over these long asset lives.  
As a result, we consider this to be a key audit matter.

We tested the design and implementation of key controls relating  
to the application of useful lives to network system assets as they  
are commissioned.
We assessed the appropriateness of the useful lives of the assets  
through comparison to industry and regulatory benchmarks taking 
into consideration our understanding of Powerco and its operations.
We challenged the Group’s on going processes to review the 
appropriateness of component asset useful life assumptions and the 
key controls relating to any changes made to useful life information.
We assessed historical information of losses on disposal through  
the use of specialist analytic software in order to identify which 
types of assets and what particular regions were responsible for 
the losses. We considered whether the losses were indicative of 
inappropriate useful life assumptions in conjunction with Powerco’s 
Asset Management Plan.
We formed an independent expectation of depreciation and compared 
it to the amount recorded.

This audit report relates to the consolidated financial statements of Powerco Limited for the year ended 31 March 2017 included on Powerco Limited’s website. The Board of 
Directors is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of Powerco Limited’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of Powerco Limited’s website. We 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the consolidated financial statements since they were initially presented on the website. The audit report refers 
only to the consolidated financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these consolidated 
financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the 
audited consolidated financial statements and related audit report dated 25 May 2017 to confirm the information included in the audited consolidated financial statements presented 
on this website. Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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